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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
This document includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 24,
2018, among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP (SEP GP), Enbridge Inc. (Enbridge), Enbridge (U.S.) Inc. (EUS),
Autumn Acquisition Sub, LLC, and, solely for the purposes of Articles I, II and XI, Enbridge US Holdings Inc., Spectra Energy Corp, Spectra
Energy Capital, LLC and Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC (the Proposed Merger). Forward-looking statements represent management’s
intentions, plans, expectations, assumptions and beliefs about future events. These forward-looking statements are identified by terms and
phrases such as: anticipate, believe, intend, estimate, expect, continue, should, could, may, plan, project, predict, will, potential, forecast, and
similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside our control and
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. Factors used to develop
these forward-looking statements and that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in any forward-looking statement
include, but are not limited to:
•

state, provincial, federal and foreign legislative and regulatory initiatives that affect cost and investment recovery, have an effect on rate
structure, and affect the speed at and degree to which competition enters the natural gas and oil industries;

•

outcomes of litigation and regulatory investigations, proceedings or inquiries;

•

weather and other natural phenomena, including the economic, operational and other effects of hurricanes and storms;

•

the timing and extent of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates;

•

general economic conditions, including the risk of a prolonged economic slowdown or decline, or the risk of delay in a recovery, which can
affect the long-term demand for natural gas and oil and related services;

•
•

potential effects arising from terrorist attacks and any consequential or other hostilities;
interruption of our operations due to social, civil or political events or unrest;

•

changes in environmental, safety and other laws and regulations;

•

the development of alternative energy resources;

•

results and costs of financing efforts, including the ability to obtain financing on favorable terms, which can be affected by various factors,
including credit ratings and general market and economic conditions;

•

increases in the cost of goods and services required to complete capital projects;

•

growth in opportunities, including the timing and success of efforts to develop U.S. and Canadian pipeline, storage, gathering and other
related infrastructure projects and the effects of competition;

•

the performance of natural gas transmission, storage and gathering facilities, and crude oil transportation and storage;

•

the extent of success in connecting natural gas and oil supplies to transmission and gathering systems and in connecting to expanding
gas and oil markets;

•

the effects of accounting pronouncements issued periodically by accounting standard-setting bodies;

•

conditions of the capital markets during the periods covered by forward-looking statements;

•

the ability to successfully complete merger, acquisition or divestiture plans; regulatory or other limitations imposed as a result of a merger,
acquisition or divestiture; and the success of the business following a merger, acquisition or divestiture, including the Proposed Merger;

•

the risk that Enbridge may be unable to obtain governmental and regulatory approvals required for the Proposed Merger or required
governmental and regulatory approvals may delay the Proposed Merger or result in the imposition of conditions that could cause the
parties to abandon the Proposed Merger;

•

the risk that a condition to closing of the Proposed Merger may not be satisfied;

•

the timing to complete the Proposed Merger;
3
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•

the ability to realize expected cost savings, benefits and any other synergies from the Proposed Merger and the proposed simplification of
Enbridge’s overall corporate structure may not be fully realized or may take longer to realize than expected;

•

disruption from the Proposed Merger may make it more difficult to maintain relationships with customers, employees or suppliers; and

•

the impact and outcome of pending and future litigation, including litigation, if any, relating to the Proposed Merger.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forward-looking statements might not occur or might occur
to a different extent or at a different time than Spectra Energy Partners, LP has described. Spectra Energy Partners, LP undertakes no obligation
to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
4
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Financial Statements (Unaudited).
SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited; in millions, except per-unit amounts)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

Operating revenues
Transportation of natural gas
Transportation of crude oil
Storage of natural gas and other

$

Total operating revenues

581
102
54

$

541
94
58

$

1,770
297
175

$

1,617
295
176

737

693

2,242

2,088

227
89
54

197
86
36

606
268
173

633
258
148

370

319

1,047

1,039

367

374

1,195

1,049

81
17

161
15

210
51

239
109

98

176

261

348

85

75

255

191

Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense

380
3

475
4

1,201
15

1,206
14

Net income
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

377
11

471
11

1,186
32

1,192
87

Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other
Depreciation and amortization
Property and other taxes
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Other income and expenses
Earnings from equity investments
Other income and expenses, net
Total other income and expenses
Interest expense

Net income attributable to controlling interests

$

366

$

460

$

1,154

$

1,105

Net income attributable to controlling interests
Net income attributable to general partner

$

366
—

$

460
101

$

1,154
—

$

1,105
284

Net income attributable to limited partners

$

366

$

359

$

1,154

$

821

$
$

485
0.75
0.76375

$
$

311
1.15
0.71375

$
$

472
2.44
2.25375

$
$

310
2.65
2.10375

Weighted average limited partner units outstanding—basic and diluted
Net income per limited partner unit—basic and diluted
Distributions paid per limited partner unit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited; in millions)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
General partner units restructuring
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges

$

2017

377

$

6
—
12

Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
$

Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interests

2018

471

$

8
—
(3)

2017

1,186

$

(8)
(3)
47

1,192
15
—
(3)

18

5

36

12

395
11

476
11

1,222
32

1,204
87

384

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,

$

465

$

1,190

$

1,117
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited; in millions)
September 30,
2018

December 31,
2017

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $16 and $10 at September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively)
Inventory
Fuel Tracker
Other assets, net

$

Total current assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Taxes payable
Interest payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Natural gas imbalance payables
Collateral liabilities
Other

$

322
55
114
48

Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment, net
Regulatory and other assets
Total assets

156

372
40
19
23

695

561

3,101
2,954
15,322
339

3,302
2,957
14,899
337

$

22,411

$

22,056

$

249
101
45
—
49
41
72

$

259
84
68
500
80
39
75

Total current liabilities
Loan from affiliate
Long-term debt
Deferred income taxes
Regulatory and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Partners’ capital
Common units (484.9 and 312.4 units issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018 and December
31, 2017, respectively)
General partner units (no units and 6.4 units issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

557

1,105

638
8,157
47
1,010

—
7,963
46
1,041

10,409

10,155

11,641

11,183

—
3

Total partners’ capital

386
(33)

11,644

Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
$

Total liabilities and equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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11,536

358

365

12,002

11,901

22,411

$

22,056
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited; in millions)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income tax expense
Earnings from equity investments
Distributions from equity investments
Regulatory liability - deferred income taxes
Change in operating assets and liabilities

$

2017

1,186

$

278
1
(210)
153
(25)
(126)

Net cash provided by operating activities

255
2
(239)
105
—
(174)

1,257

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures
Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates
Purchase of intangible, net
Distributions from equity investments
Distribution from Sabal Trail debt proceeds
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of Sabal Trail
Other
Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt
Payments for the redemption of long-term debt
Borrowings from affiliate
Net change in credit facility draws and commercial paper borrowings
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Proceeds from the issuances of units
Distributions to partners
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1,192

1,141

(680)
(520)
—
39
744
—
3

(1,592)
(218)
(40)
27
—
(67)
1

(414)

(1,889)

794
(500)
638
(589)
(40)
1
—
(1,092)
(11)

400
(816)
—
1,459
(37)
416
115
(907)
(1)

(799)

629

44
114

(119)
233

158

$

114
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(Unaudited; in millions)
Partners’ Capital

Common

December 31, 2017

$

Net income
General partner units restructuring
Other comprehensive income
Attributed deferred tax benefit
Incentive distribution rights restructuring
legal fees
Distributions to partners
Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Distributions to noncontrolling interests

11,183
1,154
389
—
11

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

General
Partner

$

386
—
(386)
—
—

(4)
(1,092)
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

(33)
—
(3)
39
—

Noncontrolling
Interests

$

—
—
—
—

$

11,641

$

—

$

3

$

December 31, 2016
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Attributed deferred tax benefit
Issuances of units
Distributions to partners
Contributions from noncontrolling interests
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Sabal Trail deconsolidation

$

11,650
821
—
—
113
(651)
—
—
—

$

452
284
—
55
2
(256)
—
—
—

$

(45)
—
12
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

September 30, 2017

$

11,933

$

537

$

(33)

$

9

Total

$

—
—
1
(40)

September 30, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

365
32
—
—
—

358
1,347
87
—
—
—
—
416
(37)
(1,440)
373

11,901
1,186
—
39
11
(4)
(1,092)
1
(40)

$

12,002

$

13,404
1,192
12
55
115
(907)
416
(37)
(1,440)

$

12,810
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SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
1. General
The terms “we,” “our” and “us” as used in this report refer collectively to Spectra Energy Partners, LP (SEP) and its subsidiaries unless the
context suggests otherwise. These terms are used for convenience only and are not intended as a precise description of any separate legal entity
within SEP.
Nature of Operations. SEP, through its subsidiaries and equity investments, is engaged in the transmission, storage and gathering of
natural gas and the transportation and storage of crude oil through interstate pipeline systems. We are a Delaware master limited partnership
(MLP). As of September 30, 2018, Enbridge and its subsidiaries collectively owned 83% of us and the remaining 17% was publicly owned.
Enbridge owns and controls our general partner, SEP GP, which owns a non-economic general partner interest in us. See Note 13 for additional
information on our general partner interest.
We manage our business in two reportable segments: U.S. Transmission and Liquids. The U.S. Transmission segment provides interstate
transmission, storage and gathering of natural gas. The Liquids segment provides transportation of crude oil and storage of natural gas.
Basis of Presentation. The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) for interim consolidated financial information and with the instructions
to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. They do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. GAAP for annual
consolidated financial statements and should therefore be read in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements and notes
presented in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. In the opinion of management, the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods reported. These Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements follow the same
significant accounting policies as those included in our annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, except for
the adoption of new standards. See Note 2 for additional information on the adoption of new standards.
2. New Accounting Pronouncements
Adoption of New Standards
Clarifying Guidance on Derecognition and Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assets
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2017-05 on a modified retrospective basis. The new standard
clarifies the scope provisions of nonfinancial assets and how to allocate consideration to each distinct asset, and amends the guidance for
derecognition of a distinct nonfinancial asset in partial sale transactions. The adoption of this accounting update did not have a material impact on
our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Clarifying the Presentation of Restricted Cash in the Statement of Cash Flows
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-18 on a retrospective basis. The new standard clarifies guidance on the classification and
presentation of changes in restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents within the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The
amendments require that changes in restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents be included within Cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the opening and closing period amounts shown on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For current and
comparative periods, we amended the presentation in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows to include restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents with Cash and cash equivalents. The following table shows the changes in beginning and ending Cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash as a result of adopting ASU 2016-18:
September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

September 30, 2017

December 31, 2016

(in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash in Other assets, net
Restricted cash in Regulatory and other assets

$

156
1
1

$

107
3
4

$

107
5
2

$

216
3
14

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

158

$

114

$

114

$

233

Simplifying Cash Flow Classification
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-15 on a retrospective basis. The new standard reduces diversity in practice of how certain
cash receipts and cash payments are classified in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The new guidance addresses eight
specific presentation issues. We assessed each of the eight specific presentation issues and determined that the adoption of this ASU did not
have a material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-01 on a prospective basis. The new standard addresses certain aspects of recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial assets and liabilities. Investments in equity securities, excluding equity method and
consolidated investments, are no longer classified as trading or available-for-sale (AFS) securities. All investments in equity securities with readily
determinable fair values are classified as investments at fair value through net income. Investments in equity securities without readily
determinable fair values are measured using the fair value measurement alternative and are recorded at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or
minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer.
Investments in equity securities measured using the fair value measurement alternative are reviewed for indicators of impairment each reporting
period. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities is measured using the exit price notion. The adoption of this accounting update did not have a
material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2014-09 on a modified retrospective basis to contracts that were not yet completed at the date of
initial application. The new standard was issued with the intent of significantly enhancing consistency and comparability of revenue recognition
practices across entities and industries. The new standard establishes a single, principles-based, five-step model to be applied to all contracts
with customers and introduces new and enhanced disclosure requirements. It also requires the use of more estimates and judgments than the
previous standards. The adoption of this new standard did not have a material impact on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. See
Note 4 for additional information.
Future Accounting Policy Changes
Amended Guidance on Cloud Computing Arrangements
In August 2018, ASU 2018-15 was issued to provide guidance on the accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing
arrangement (CCA) that is a service contract. The amendment aligns the accounting for costs incurred to implement a CCA that is a service
arrangement with the guidance on capitalizing costs associated with developing or obtaining internal-use software. Additionally, ASU 2018-15
specifies that an entity
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would apply ASC 350-40 to determine which implementation costs related to a hosting arrangement that is a service contract should be capitalized
and which should be expensed. Furthermore, the amendments in the update require that capitalized costs be amortized on a straight-line basis
generally over the term of the arrangement and presented in the same income statement line as fees paid for the hosting service. The new
standard also requires that the balance sheet presentation of capitalized implementation costs be the same as that of the prepayment of fees
related to the hosting arrangement, as well as similar consistency in classifications from a cash flow statement perspective. ASU 2018-15 is
effective January 1, 2020 and early adoption is permitted. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard on our consolidated financial
statements.
Disclosure Effectiveness
In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued amendments as a part of its disclosure framework project aimed to
improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements.
ASU 2018-13 was issued to modify the disclosure requirements in ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in ASU 2018-13
eliminate and modify some disclosures, while also adding new disclosures for fair value measurements. This update is effective January 1, 2020,
however entities are permitted to early adopt the eliminated or modified current disclosures. We are currently assessing the impact of the new
standard on our consolidated financial statements.
Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities
ASU 2017-12 was issued in August 2017 with the objective of better aligning a company’s risk management activities and the resulting hedge
accounting reflected in the financial statements. The amendments allow cash flow hedging of contractually specified components in financial and
non-financial items. Under the new guidance, hedge ineffectiveness is no longer required to be measured and hedging instruments’ fair value
changes will be recorded in the same income statement line as the hedged item. The ASU also allows the initial quantitative hedge effectiveness
assessment to be performed at any time before the end of the quarter in which the hedge is designated. After initial quantitative testing is
performed, an ongoing qualitative effectiveness assessment is permitted. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2019, with early adoption
permitted, and is to be applied on a modified retrospective basis. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard on our Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Accounting for Credit Losses
ASU 2016-13 was issued in June 2016 with the intent of providing financial statement users with more useful information about the expected
credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. Current treatment
uses the incurred loss methodology for recognizing credit losses that delays the recognition until it is probable a loss has been incurred. The
accounting update adds a new impairment model, known as the current expected credit loss model, which is based on expected losses rather than
incurred losses. Under the new guidance, an entity will recognize as an allowance its estimate of expected credit losses, which the FASB believes
will result in more timely recognition of such losses. The accounting update is effective January 1, 2020. We are currently assessing the impact of
the new standard on our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
Recognition of Leases
ASU 2016-02 was issued in February 2016 with the intent to increase transparency and comparability among organizations. It requires
lessees of operating lease arrangements to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position and disclose
additional key information about lease agreements. The accounting update also replaces the current definition of a lease and requires that an
arrangement be recognized as a lease when a customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of an asset,
as well as the right to direct the use of the asset. We will adopt the new standard on January 1, 2019 and we intend to apply the transition practical
expedients offered in connection with this update. The election to apply the package of practical expedients allows an entity to not apply the new
lease standard to the prior year comparative periods in the year of adoption. Application of the package of practical expedients also permits
entities not to reassess a) whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases in accordance with the new guidance, b) lease classifications,
and c) whether initial direct costs capitalized under ASC 840 continue to meet the definition of initial direct costs under the new guidance.
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Further, ASU 2018-01 was issued in January 2018 to address stakeholder concerns about the costs and complexity of complying with the
transition provisions of the new lease requirements as they relate to land easements. The amendments provide an optional transition practical
expedient to not evaluate existing or expired land easements that were not previously accounted for as leases under existing guidance. We intend
to elect this practical expedient in connection with the adoption of the new lease requirements.
In July 2018, ASU 2018-11 was issued to address additional stakeholder concerns regarding the unanticipated costs and complexities
associated with the modified retrospective transition method as well as the requirement for lessors to separate components of a contract. Under
the new guidance, entities are provided with an additional transition method which allows entities to apply the new standard at the date of adoption
and to elect not to recast comparative periods presented. This amendment also provides a practical expedient which allows lessors to combine
associated lease and nonlease components within a contract when certain conditions are met. We intend to adopt the new transition option in
connection with the adoption of the new lease requirements; however we continue to evaluate the lessor practical expedient to combine lease and
nonlease components.
We have developed a preliminary inventory of existing lease agreements and are currently performing detailed evaluations of our leases under
the new accounting requirements. We believe the most significant change to our financial statements will be the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets in our statement of financial position for operating leases. We continue to assess the necessary changes to accounting and
business processes in order to implement the recognition and disclosure requirements of the new lease standard.
13
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3. Segment Information
We manage our business in two reportable segments: U.S. Transmission and Liquids. The remainder of our business operations is presented
as “Other”, and consists of certain corporate costs. Segment results are presented as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA).
Total Operating
Revenues

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income

Segment EBITDA/
Consolidated Earnings
Before Income Taxes

Depreciation and
Amortization
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
U.S. Transmission
Liquids

$

Total reportable segments
Other
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income and other

633
104

$

737
—
—
—
—

Total consolidated
Three Months Ended September 30, 2017
U.S. Transmission
Liquids

89
—
—
—
—
89

$

380

$

595
98

$

78
8

$

589
67

86
—
—
—
—

693

$

86

$

475

$

1,928
314

$

244
24

$

1,530
201

268
—
—
—
—

2,242

$

268

$

1,201

$

1,783
305

$

234
24

$

1,548
197

2,088
—
—
—
—
$
14

1,731
(9)
268
255
2

$

Total reportable segments
Other
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Total consolidated

656
(21)
86
75
1

$

2,242
—
—
—
—

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017
U.S. Transmission
Liquids

562
(6)
89
85
(2)

$

Total reportable segments
Other
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Total consolidated

503
59

737

693
—
—
—
—

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
U.S. Transmission
Liquids

$

$

Total reportable segments
Other
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income and other
Total consolidated

81
8

2,088

258
—
—
—
—
$

258

1,745
(92)
258
191
2
$

1,206
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4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Major Products and Services
U.S. Transmission

Liquids

Consolidated

(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Transportation of natural gas
Transportation of crude oil
Storage of natural gas

$

Total revenue from contracts with customers
Other revenue

581
—
49

$

—
102
2

630
3

Total revenue
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Transportation of natural gas
Transportation of crude oil
Storage of natural gas

581
102
51

104
—

734
3

$

633

$

104

$

737

$

1,770
—
151

$

—
297
17

$

1,770
297
168

Total revenue from contracts with customers
Other revenue

1,921
7
$

Total revenue

$

314
—

1,928

$

314

2,235
7
$

2,242

We disaggregate revenue into categories which represent our principal performance obligations within each business segment because these
revenue categories represent the most significant revenue streams in each segment and consequently are considered to be the most relevant
revenue information for management to consider in evaluating performance.
Contract Balances
Accounts Receivable

Contract Assets

Contract Liabilities

(in millions)

Balance at adoption date
Balance at reporting date

$

265
266

$

—
—

$

65
66

Contract liabilities primarily relate to deferred revenue. There were no material changes in contract liabilities during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2018.
Recognition and Measurement of Revenue
U.S. Transmission

Liquids

Consolidated

(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018
Revenue from products and services transferred over time - crude oil and
natural gas transportation and storage

$

630

$

104

$

734

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Revenue from products and services transferred over time - crude oil and
natural gas transportation and storage

$

1,921

$

314

$

2,235

Revenue to be Recognized from Unfulfilled Performance Obligations
Total revenue from performance obligations expected to be fulfilled in future periods is $21.5 billion, of which $0.6 billion and $2.5 billion is
expected to be recognized during the remaining three months ending December 31, 2018 and year ending December 31, 2019, respectively.
Revenues from contracts with customers which have an original expected duration of one year or less are excluded from these amounts.
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5. Net Income Per Limited Partner Unit and Cash Distributions
We determined basic and diluted net income per limited partner unit as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

(in millions, except per unit amounts)

Net income attributable to controlling interests
Less: Net income attributable to:
General partner’s interest in general partner units—2% (a)
General partner’s interest in incentive distribution rights (a)

$

366

Limited partners’ interest in net income attributable to common units

$

366

$

485
0.75

$

—
—

Weighted average limited partner units outstanding—basic and diluted
Net income per limited partner unit—basic and diluted

460

$

10
91
$

359

$

311
1.15

1,154

$

1,105

—
—

23
261

$

1,154

$

821

$

472
2.44

$

310
2.65

______________

(a)General partner units and incentive distribution rights (IDRs) were converted to common units of SEP as a result of the Equity Restructuring Agreement dated January 21,
2018 (Equity Restructuring Agreement). See Note 13 for additional information.

Our partnership agreement requires that, within 60 days after the end of each quarter, we distribute all of our Available Cash, as defined
below, to unitholders of record on the applicable record date.
Available Cash. Available Cash, for any quarter, consists of all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that quarter:
•

less the amount of cash reserves established by the general partner to:
•

provide for the proper conduct of business,

•

comply with applicable law, any debt instrument or other agreement, or

•

provide funds for distributions for any one or more of the next four quarters,

•

plus, if the general partner so determines, all or a portion of cash and cash equivalents on hand on the date of determination of Available
Cash for the quarter;

•

provided, however, that disbursements made by us or any of our subsidiaries or cash reserves established, increased or reduced after
the end of that quarter but on or before the date of determination of Available Cash for that quarter shall be deemed to have been made,
established, increased or reduced, for purposes of determining Available Cash, within that quarter if our general partner so determines.

6. Variable Interest Entities
Sabal Trail. We own a 50% interest in Sabal Trail Transmission, LLC (Sabal Trail), a joint venture that operates a pipeline originating in
Alabama that transports natural gas to Florida.
On April 30, 2018, Sabal Trail issued $500 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.246% senior notes due in 2028, $600 million in
aggregate principal amount of 4.682% senior notes due in 2038 and $400 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.832% senior notes due in 2048.
Sabal Trail distributed net proceeds from the offering to its partners as a partial reimbursement of construction and development costs incurred by
the partners. The net distribution made to us was $744 million and was used to pay down short-term borrowings.
As of June 30, 2018, Sabal Trail issued debt and made distributions to its members. These events triggered reconsideration and it was
concluded that Sabal Trail is no longer a variable interest entity (VIE) due to Sabal Trail having sufficient equity at risk to finance its activities.
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NEXUS. We own a 50% interest in NEXUS Gas Transmission, LLC (NEXUS), a joint venture that is constructing a greenfield natural gas
pipeline from Ohio to Michigan and leasing capacity on third party pipelines in order to provide transportation of Appalachian Basin natural gas to
markets in Ohio, Michigan, and the Dawn Hub in Ontario, Canada through the Vector Pipeline. NEXUS is a VIE due to insufficient equity at risk to
finance its activities. We determined that we are not the primary beneficiary because the power to direct the activities of NEXUS that most
significantly impact its economic performance is shared. We account for NEXUS under the equity method. Our maximum exposure to loss is $1.3
billion. We have an investment in NEXUS of $1.2 billion and $640 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively,
classified as Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
In 2016, we issued performance guarantees to a third party and an affiliate on behalf of NEXUS. See Note 12 for further discussion of the
guarantee arrangement.
PennEast. In 2017, we purchased an additional 10% interest in PennEast Pipeline Company, LLC (PennEast) from PSEG Power Gas
Holdings, LLC, increasing our ownership interest in PennEast to 20%. PennEast is a joint venture that is proposing to construct a natural gas
pipeline originating in northeastern Pennsylvania, and ending near Pennington, Mercer County, New Jersey. PennEast is a VIE due to insufficient
equity at risk to finance its activities. We determined that we are not the primary beneficiary because the power to direct the activities of PennEast
that most significantly impact its economic performance is shared. We account for PennEast under the equity method. Our maximum exposure to
loss is $280 million. We have an investment in PennEast of $69 million and $55 million as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively, classified as Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The maximum exposure to loss for these entities is limited to our current equity investment and the remaining expected contributions for
each joint venture.
7. Marketable Securities and Restricted Funds
We routinely invest excess cash and various restricted balances in securities such as commercial paper, corporate debt securities, and other
money market securities in the United States, as well as equity securities in Canada. We do not purchase marketable securities for speculative
purposes, therefore we do not have any securities classified as trading securities. While we do not routinely sell marketable securities prior to their
scheduled maturity dates, some of our investments may be held and restricted for the purposes of funding future capital expenditures and National
Energy Board (NEB) regulatory requirements, so these investments are classified as AFS marketable securities as they may occasionally be sold
prior to their scheduled maturity dates due to the unexpected timing of cash needs. Initial investments in securities are classified as purchases of
the respective type of securities (AFS marketable securities or held-to-maturity (HTM) marketable securities). Maturities of AFS securities are
presented within Net cash used in investing activities within the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
AFS Securities. We had $4 million and $3 million of AFS securities classified as Regulatory and other assets on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. At September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
these investments include $4 million and $3 million, respectively, of restricted funds held and collected from customers for Canadian pipeline
abandonment in accordance with the NEB's regulatory requirements, as well as less than $1 million of restricted funds related to certain
construction projects as of December 31, 2017.
At September 30, 2018, the weighted-average contractual maturity of outstanding AFS securities was less than one year.
There were no material gross unrecognized holding gains or losses associated with investments in AFS securities at September 30, 2018 or
December 31, 2017.
HTM Securities. All of our HTM securities are restricted funds. We had $1 million and $3 million of money market securities classified as
Other assets, net on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. These
securities are restricted pursuant to certain Express-Platte pipeline system debt agreements.
At September 30, 2018, the weighted-average contractual maturity of outstanding HTM securities was less than one year.
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There were no material gross unrecognized holding gains or losses associated with investments in HTM securities at September 30, 2018 or
December 31, 2017.
Other Restricted Funds. In addition to the AFS and HTM securities that were restricted funds as described above, we had other restricted
funds totaling $1 million and $4 million classified as Regulatory and other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. These restricted funds are related to certain construction projects.
Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted ASU 2016-18 on a retrospective basis. As a result, changes in restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents, which include HTM securities and other restricted funds discussed above, have been included within Cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the opening and closing period amounts shown on our Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Changes in restricted funds
that are not restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents are presented within Net cash used in investing activities on our Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 2 for additional information.
8. Debt
Credit Facility
Maturity Date (a)

Total Facility

Draws (b)

Available

(in millions)

Spectra Energy Partners, LP

2022

$

2,500

$

1,665

$

835

______________

(a)
(b)

Includes $336 million of commitments that expire in 2021.
Includes credit facility draws, letters of credit and commercial paper issuances that are back-stopped by the credit facility and excludes
our unsecured revolving 364-day credit agreement with EUS.

The issuances of commercial paper, letters of credit and revolving borrowings reduce the amount available under the credit facility. As of
September 30, 2018, there were no letters of credit issued or revolving borrowings outstanding under the credit facility.
Our commercial paper program provides for the issuance of up to an aggregate principal amount $2.5 billion of commercial paper and is
supported by the availability of a long-term committed credit facility and therefore has been classified as long-term debt as of September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Our credit facility agreements and term debt indentures include common events of default and covenant provisions, including a financial
covenant, whereby accelerated repayment and/or termination of the agreement may result if we were to default on payment or violate certain
covenants. As of September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with those covenants.
The EUS 364-day Credit Facility. On September 5, 2018, we entered into an unsecured revolving 364-day credit agreement (the EUS 364day Credit Facility) with EUS, as lender. The EUS 364-day Credit Facility is a committed senior unsecured revolving credit facility with revolving
commitments of $750 million. As of September 30, 2018, we had $638 million outstanding under this facility, excluding any accrued interest to
date. This facility is classified as a long-term obligation since we have the ability and the intent to refinance the amounts outstanding on a longterm basis.
See Part II Item 5 Other Information for a further description of the EUS 364-day Credit Facility.
Debt Issuances. On January 9, 2018, Texas Eastern Transmission, LP (Texas Eastern), an indirect subsidiary of SEP, issued $400
million in aggregate principal amount of 3.50% senior notes due in 2028 and $400 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.15% senior notes due
in 2048. Texas Eastern used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering to fund expansion projects and capital expenditures on the Texas
Eastern pipeline system. In addition, Texas Eastern used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering to repay funds we advanced to Texas
Eastern in September 2017, which Texas Eastern used to repay a $400 million debt maturity. We used the proceeds received to repay commercial
paper and credit facility borrowings, which were incurred primarily to fund Texas Eastern’s capital expenditures, as well as those of our other
subsidiaries.
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9. Fair Value Measurements
The following presents, for each of the fair value hierarchy levels, assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as
of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
September 30, 2018
Description

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Caption

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

(in millions)

Interest rate swaps
Commodity swaps
Canadian equity securities
Interest rate swaps

Other assets, net
Other assets, net
Regulatory and other assets
Regulatory and other assets

Total Assets
Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

Current liabilities — other
Regulatory and other liabilities

Total Liabilities

$

30
1
4
10

$

—
—
4
—

$

30
—
—
10

$

—
1
—
—

$

45

$

4

$

40

$

1

$

7
3

$

—
—

$

7
3

$

—
—

$

10

$

—

$

10

$

—

December 31, 2017
Description

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Caption

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

(in millions)

Canadian equity securities
Interest rate swaps
Commodity swaps

Regulatory and other assets
Other assets, net
Other assets, net

Total Assets
Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps

Current liabilities — other
Regulatory and other liabilities

Total Liabilities

$

3
4
2

$

3
—
—

$

—
4
—

$

—
—
2

$

9

$

3

$

4

$

2

$

3
5

$

—
—

$

3
5

$

—
—

$

8

$

—

$

8

$

—

Level 1
Level 1 valuations represent quoted unadjusted prices for identical instruments in active markets.
Level 2
Fair values of our financial instruments that are actively traded in the secondary market, including our long-term debt, are determined based
on market-based prices. These Level 2 valuations may include inputs such as quoted market prices of the exact or similar instruments, broker or
dealer quotations, or alternative pricing sources that may include models or matrix pricing tools, with reasonable levels of price transparency.
For interest rate swaps, we utilize data obtained from a third-party source for the determination of fair value. Both the future cash flows for the
fixed-leg and floating-leg of our swaps are discounted to present value.
Level 3
Level 3 valuation techniques include the use of pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar techniques where at least one
significant model assumption or input is unobservable. Level 3 financial instruments also include those for which the determination of fair value
requires significant management judgment or estimation.
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Financial Instruments
The fair values of financial instruments that are recorded and carried at book value are summarized in the following table. Judgment is
required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. These estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts we could
have realized in current markets.
September 30, 2018
Book
Value

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2017

Approximate
Fair Value

Book
Value

Approximate
Fair Value

(in millions)

Note receivable, noncurrent (a)
Long-term debt, including current maturities (b)

$

71
6,150

$

71
6,204

$

71
5,850

$

71
6,211

______________

(a)
(b)

Included within Investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates.
Excludes variable rate debt, unamortized items and fair value hedge carrying value adjustments.

The fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt is determined based on market-based prices as described in the Level 2 valuation technique
described above and is classified as Level 2.
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, accounts receivable, note receivable-noncurrent,
accounts payable, short-term money market securities, loan from affiliate, commercial paper, credit facility borrowings and long-term variable-rate
debt are not materially different from their carrying amounts because of the short-term nature of these instruments or because the stated rates
approximate market rates.
10. Risk Management and Hedging Activities
Our earnings, cash flows and other comprehensive income are subject to movements in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices (collectively, market risk). Changes in interest rates expose us to risk as a result of our issuance of variable and fixed-rate debt
and commercial paper. We are exposed to foreign currency risk from the Canadian portion of the Express-Platte pipeline. Formal risk management
policies, processes and systems have been designed to mitigate these risks. We use a combination of qualifying and non-qualifying derivative
instruments to manage the risks.
Total Interest Rate Derivative Instruments
We generally have a policy of entering into individual International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. agreements, or other similar
derivative agreements, with the majority of our financial derivative counterparties. These agreements provide for the net settlement of derivative
instruments outstanding with specific counterparties in the event of bankruptcy or other significant credit events, and reduce our credit risk
exposure on financial derivative asset positions outstanding with the counterparties in those circumstances. The following table summarizes the
maximum potential settlement in the event of these specific circumstances. All amounts are presented gross on the Condensed Consolidated
Balance Sheets:
September 30, 2018
Gross Amounts
Presented in
the Condensed
Consolidated
Balance Sheet

Description

December 31, 2017

Amounts
Available for
Offset

Gross Amounts
Presented in
the Consolidated
Balance Sheet

Net
Amount

Amounts
Available for
Offset

Net
Amount

(in millions)

Assets
Liabilities

$

40
(10)

$

—
—

$

20

40
(10)

$

4
(8)

$

(1)
1

$

3
(7)
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Fair Value Hedges
At September 30, 2018, we had “pay floating - receive fixed” interest rate swaps outstanding with a total notional amount of $450 million to
hedge against changes in the fair value of our fixed-rate financial instruments that arise as a result of changes in market interest rates. These
swaps also allow us to transform a portion of the underlying interest payments related to our long-term debt securities from fixed-rate to variablerate interest payments in order to achieve our desired mix of fixed and variable-rate debt. Our "pay floating - received fixed" interest rate derivative
instruments are designated and qualify as fair value hedges. The gain or loss on the derivative as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged
item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. During the nine months ended September
30, 2018, the amounts recognized were an $8 million loss on the fair value hedges and an offsetting $8 million gain on long-term debt.
Cash Flow Hedges
Our earnings and cash flows are also exposed to variability in longer term interest rates ahead of anticipated fixed rate debt issuances.
Forward starting interest rate swaps are used to hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements. Since the third quarter of 2017, we
have entered into pre-issuance interest rate swaps which are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges with an average swap rate of 2.6%.
The information of these cash flow swaps are presented as follows:
Fair Value at
Date of Maturity & Contract Type

Notional Amount

September 30, 2018

December 31, 2017

(in millions)

Contracts maturing in 2018
Contracts maturing in 2020

$

560
250

$

30
10

$

1
(3)

We estimate that $3 million of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income will be reclassified into net income in the next 12 months related
to these swaps.
The effects of derivative instruments on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income are shown as follows:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
Amount of unrealized gain (loss) recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

(in millions)

Cash flow hedges - interest rate swaps

$

12

$

(3)

$

47

$

(3)

Non-qualifying Hedges
Our earnings and cash flows are exposed to changes in commodity prices as a result of our ownership interests in certain assets. In July
2017, we entered into a power swap to fix a portion of the variable price exposure for power costs from the Canadian portion of our Express-Platte
pipeline system until 2020. As a result, we recognized an unrealized loss of $1 million included in Operating, maintenance and other on the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income during both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, and hedge assets of $1 million
included in Other assets, net and Regulatory and other assets on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2018.
11. Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental
We are subject to various U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, as well as Canadian federal and provincial laws, relating to the
protection of the environment. These laws and regulations can change from time to time, imposing new obligations on us.
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Environmental risk is inherent to liquid hydrocarbon and natural gas pipeline operations, and we and our affiliates are, at times, subject to
environmental remediation at various contaminated sites. We manage this environmental risk through appropriate environmental policies and
practices to minimize any impact our operations may have on the environment. To the extent that we are unable to recover payment for
environmental liabilities from insurance or other potentially responsible parties, we will be responsible for payment of liabilities arising from
environmental incidents associated with the operating activities of our liquids and natural gas businesses.
Litigation
We are subject to various legal and regulatory actions and proceedings which arise in the normal course of business, including interventions
in regulatory proceedings and challenges to regulatory approvals and permits by special interest groups. While the final outcome of such actions
and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the resolution of such actions and proceedings will not have a
material impact on our condensed consolidated financial position or results of operations.
12. Guarantees
We have various financial guarantees which are issued in the normal course of business. We enter into these arrangements to facilitate a
commercial transaction with a third party by enhancing the value of the transaction to the third party. To varying degrees, these guarantees involve
elements of performance and credit risk, which are not included on our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The possibility of having to
perform under these guarantees is largely dependent upon future operations of various subsidiaries, investees and other third parties, or the
occurrence of certain future events.
In December 2016, we issued performance guarantees to a third party and an affiliate on behalf of an equity method investee. These
guarantees were issued to enable the equity method investee to enter into long-term transportation contracts with the third party. While the
likelihood is remote, the maximum potential amount of future payments we could have been required to make as of September 30, 2018 was $129
million. These performance guarantees expire in 2032.
As of September 30, 2018, the amounts recorded for the guarantees described above are not material, either individually or in the aggregate.
13. Issuances of Common Units
On January 21, 2018, we entered into the Equity Restructuring Agreement with SEP GP, our general partner pursuant to which the IDRs and
the 2% general partner interest in us held by that entity were converted into 172,500,000 newly issued common units and a non-economic general
partner interest in us.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

INTRODUCTION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we reported net income attributable to controlling interests of $366 million and
$460 million, respectively. Key highlights for the three months ended September 30, 2018 include increased earnings driven by natural gas pipeline
expansions, increased revenue contracts on Sabal Trail, and higher allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) on NEXUS, offset by
the remeasurement gain recognized from the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017, higher operating and pipeline integrity costs and higher
allocated corporate shared-service costs.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we reported net income attributable to controlling interests of $1.2 billion and $1.1
billion, respectively. Key highlights for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 include increased earnings driven by natural gas pipeline
expansions, equity earnings from Sabal Trail being placed into service, higher AFUDC on NEXUS, and an adjustment recorded in the first quarter
of 2018 related to the established regulatory liability resulting from the 2017 U.S. tax reform legislation, partially offset by the remeasurement gain
recognized from the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017, and lower AFUDC due to Sabal Trail being placed into service.
For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, Distributable Cash Flow was $359 million and $363 million, respectively. For the
nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, Distributable Cash Flow was $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. A cash distribution of
$0.77625 per limited partner unit was declared on November 1, 2018 and is payable on November 29, 2018. The declaration and payment of
distributions is subject to the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and depends upon many factors, including the financial condition, earnings
and capital requirements of our operating subsidiaries, covenants associated with certain debt obligations, legal requirements, regulatory
constraints, our partnership agreement and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we had $1.2 billion of capital and investment expenditures. We currently project $1.8 billion
of capital and investment expenditures for the full year of 2018, including expansion capital expenditures of $1.6 billion.
We are committed to an investment-grade balance sheet and continued prudent financial management of our capital structure. Therefore,
financing growth activities will continue to be based on our strong and growing fee-based earnings and cash flows and the issuances of debt and
equity securities. As of September 30, 2018, we had access to approximately $0.8 billion in borrowing capacity under our $2.5 billion revolving
credit facility which is used principally as a back-stop for our commercial paper program. We also have access to $112 million borrowing capacity
in the EUS 364-day Credit Facility with aggregate borrowings of up to $750 million.
Proposed Merger
On August 24, 2018, we announced our entry into a definitive agreement (the Merger Agreement) with respect to the Proposed Merger,
pursuant to which an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge will be merged with and into SEP, with SEP surviving as an indirect whollyowned subsidiary of Enbridge. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Proposed Merger, Enbridge will acquire all of
our outstanding common units not already directly or indirectly owned by Enbridge in an all stock-for-unit transaction at a ratio of 1.111 Enbridge
common shares per SEP common unit (the Agreed Exchange Ratio), in a taxable transaction to our common unitholders. The Agreed Exchange
Ratio represents an approximately 9.8% increase to the exchange ratio of 1.0123 Enbridge common shares per SEP common unit that was initially
offered by SEP to Enbridge on May 17, 2018. The Proposed Merger is part of Enbridge’s sponsored vehicle restructuring initiative to simplify its
corporate structure.
The completion of the Proposed Merger is subject to certain customary closing conditions, including (i) receipt of approval of the Merger
Agreement by written consent of the limited partners of SEP holding SEP common units constituting at least a majority of the outstanding SEP
common units entitled to vote as of the close of business on
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November 5, 2018, the record date for determining the unitholders entitled to vote on the Proposed Merger (ii) the Enbridge common stock issuable
in connection with the Proposed Merger having been approved for listing on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the Toronto Stock
Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance, (iii) the absence of any governmental order prohibiting the consummation of the Proposed Merger
or the other transactions contemplated thereby, and (iv) Enbridge’s registration statement on Form S-4 having become effective under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act). The obligation of each party to the Merger Agreement to consummate the Proposed
Merger is also conditioned upon the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the other parties as of the date of the Merger Agreement
and as of the closing (subject to customary materiality qualifiers), the performance by the other parties of all obligations under the Merger
Agreement at or prior to closing and receipt of an officer’s certificate evidencing the satisfaction of the foregoing.
As a result of the completion of the Proposed Merger, our common units will no longer be publicly traded. All of our outstanding debt is
expected to remain outstanding. Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions, including the unitholder approval, the Proposed Merger
is targeted to close in fourth quarter of 2018.
United States tax reform update
On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA). The most significant change included in the TCJA is
the reduction in the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% (U.S. Tax Reform). As disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 16, 2018, we made certain
estimates for the measurement and accounting of certain effects of the U.S. Tax Reform for the year ended and as at December 31, 2017. As we
continue to gather, prepare and analyze the necessary information in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for the impact of the U.S. Tax
Reform, we continue to refine our estimates. During the first quarter of 2018 we refined our calculation of the regulatory liability associated with the
U.S. Tax Reform. This resulted in a reduction of the $860 million overall regulatory liability by $25 million.
Revised Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) policy on the treatment of income taxes
On March 15, 2018, the FERC changed its long-standing policy on the treatment of income tax amounts included in the rates of pipelines and
other entities subject to cost of service rate regulation within an MLP. In its order, the FERC revised a policy in place since 2005 to no longer
permit entities organized as MLPs to recover an income tax allowance in their cost of service rates. The announcement of the Revised Policy
Statement was accompanied by: (i) a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NOPR) proposing interstate natural gas pipelines file a one-time report to
quantify the impact of the federal income tax rate reduction and the impact of the Revised Policy Statement on each pipeline; and (ii) a Notice of
Inquiry seeking comment on how the FERC should address changes related to accumulated deferred income taxes (ADIT) and bonus depreciation.
These FERC announcements have negatively affected MLPs generally.
We filed comments to request clarification, reconsideration and rehearing of this policy change at the FERC. We also responded to the
NOPR in April and filed comments in response to the Notice of Inquiry. On April 27, 2018, the FERC issued a tolling order for the purpose of
affording it additional time for consideration of matters raised on rehearing.
On July 18, 2018, the FERC issued an Order that: (1) dismissed all requests for rehearing of its March 15, 2018 revised policy statement and
explained that its revised policy statement does not establish a binding rule, but is instead an expression of general policy that the Commission
intends to follow in the future; and (2) provides guidance that if an MLP or other tax pass-through pipeline eliminates its income tax allowance from
its cost of service pursuant to FERC’s Revised Policy Statement, then Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes (ADIT) will similarly be removed from
its cost of service and MLP pipelines may also eliminate previously-accumulated sums in ADIT. As a statement of general policy, the FERC will
consider alternative application of its tax allowance and ADIT policy on a case-by-case basis.
While many uncertainties remain with respect to the implementation of the FERC actions, if implemented as announced, and combined with
the impact of the U.S. Tax Reform, we estimate the impact to revenue and cash flow to be immaterial. The benefit from the changes related to
ADIT are expected to approximately offset the discontinuance of recovering an income tax allowance in cost of service rates. Any future direct
impacts would only take effect upon the execution and settlement of a rate case where the outcome could be different.
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In a companion rulemaking proceeding, the FERC also codified the final rules for certain natural gas pipeline compliance filings known as
Form 501-G. This new filing is expected, in most circumstances, to be a one-time filing. In this filing a FERC regulated natural gas pipeline
specifies how it intends to adjust (or not) its rates due to the collective impacts of reductions in the U.S. income tax rates and, in the case of
MLP’s and certain other pass through entities, the impacts of FERC’s revised tax allowance policy. Under the new rulemaking, a number of our
natural gas pipelines will need to file under this new rule by the end of 2018. Pending greater clarification from the FERC on the application of its
new policy, assessing the near-term and long-term implications of the policy is challenging.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018

2018

2017

2017

(in millions)

Operating revenues
Operating expenses

$

Operating income

737
370

$

693
319

$

2,242
1,047

$

2,088
1,039

367

374

1,195

1,049

81
17
85

161
15
75

210
51
255

239
109
191

Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense

380
3

475
4

1,201
15

1,206
14

Net income
Net income—noncontrolling interests

377
11

471
11

1,186
32

1,192
87

Earnings from equity investments
Other income and expenses, net
Interest expense

$

Net income—controlling interests

366

$

460

$

1,154

$

1,105

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $44 million increase was driven mainly by:
•

an increase due to expansion projects primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin Gas Transmission, LLC (Algonquin),

•

an increase in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers, and

•

an increase in transportation volumes.

Operating expenses. The $51 million increase was driven mainly by:
•

an increase in repair and maintenance costs and higher pipeline integrity costs,

•

an increase in property taxes, higher regulatory expenses and allocated corporate costs and

•

an increase in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers, partially offset by

•

a decrease due to pipeline inspection and repair costs in 2017 related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident near Delmont,
Pennsylvania.

Earnings from equity investments. The $80 million decrease was mainly attributable to the remeasurement gain recognized from the
deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017, partially offset by equity earnings from Sabal Trail as a result of additional revenue contracts and higher
AFUDC related to NEXUS in 2018. Upon the commencement of commercial service of Sabal Trail, we deconsolidated our investment and began
accounting for it under the equity method. All earnings from Sabal Trail are now recorded within one line called Earnings from equity investments.
Interest expense. The $10 million increase was mainly attributable to an increase in interest rates related to short-term borrowings and a
higher balance of long-term debt outstanding during the three months ended September 30, 2018 than the same period in 2017.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $154 million increase was driven mainly by:
•

an increase due to expansion projects primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin,

•

an increase in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,

•

an increase due to an adjustment to the 2017 regulatory liability established results from the U.S. Tax Reform and

•

an increase in natural gas transportation revenues mainly from firm transportation on Texas Eastern, partially offset by

•

a decrease in storage revenues mainly due to lower rates associated with contract renewals and

•

a decrease in revenue from Sabal Trail due to a change in accounting treatment as discussed above. During the second quarter of 2017,
we received contributions from Sabal Trail prior to its in-service date which were recorded in operating revenues.

Operating expenses. The $8 million increase was driven mainly by:
•

an increase in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,

•

an increase in repair and maintenance costs and higher pipeline integrity costs,

•

an increase in property taxes and regulatory expenses and

•

an increase in costs related to expansion, partially offset by

•

a decrease due to pipeline inspection and repair costs in 2017 related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident and

•

a decrease due to 2017 merger-related severance costs.

Earnings from equity investments. The $29 million decrease was mainly attributable to the remeasurement gain recognized from the
deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017, partially offset by equity earnings from Sabal Trail as a result of being placed in service and higher AFUDC
related to NEXUS in 2018.
Other income and expenses, net. The $58 million decrease was mainly attributable to lower AFUDC due to Sabal Trail being placed into
service.
Interest expense. The $64 million increase was mainly attributable to lower capitalized interest due to Sabal Trail being placed into service,
an increase in interest rates related to short-term borrowings, and a higher balance of long-term debt outstanding during the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 compared to the same period in 2017.
Segment Results
Management evaluates segment performance based on EBITDA. Cash, cash equivalents and investments are managed centrally, so the
gains and losses on foreign currency remeasurement, and interest and dividend income, are excluded from the segments’ EBITDA. We consider
segment EBITDA to be a good indicator of each segment’s operating performance from its continuing operations, as it represents the results of our
operations without regard to financing methods or capital structures. Our segment EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of
other companies because other companies may not calculate EBITDA in the same manner.
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Segment EBITDA is summarized in the following table. Detailed discussions follow.
EBITDA by Business Segment
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018

2018

2017

2017

(in millions)

U.S. Transmission
Liquids

$

503
59

Total reportable segment EBITDA
Other
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income and other

$

589
67

562
(6)
89
85
(2)
$

Earnings before income taxes

380

$

656
(21)
86
75
1
$

1,530
201

$

1,731
(9)
268
255
2

475

$

1,548
197
1,745
(92)
258
191
2

1,201

$

1,206

The amounts discussed below are after eliminating intercompany transactions.
U.S. Transmission
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

2018

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

(in millions)

Operating revenues

$

633

$

595

$

38

$

1,928

$

1,783

$

145

Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other
Other income/(expense)
EBITDA

$

230

181

49

656

582

74

100

175

(75)

258

347

(89)

503

$

589

$

(86)

$

1,530

$

1,548

$

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $38 million increase was driven by:
•

a $29 million increase due to expansion projects primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin,

•

an $11 million increase in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers and

•

a $6 million increase in natural gas transportation revenues mainly from firm transportation on Texas Eastern, partially offset by

•

a $4 million decrease in storage revenues mainly due to lower rates associated with contract renewals.

Operating, maintenance and other. The $49 million increase was driven by:
•

a $23 million increase in repair and maintenance costs and higher pipeline integrity costs,

•

an $18 million increase primarily due to allocated corporate shared-service costs previously reported in "Other",

•

an $11 million increase in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers and

•

an $11 million increase in property tax accrual, partially offset by

•

an $18 million decrease due to pipeline inspection and repair costs in 2017 related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident.
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Other income and expenses. The $75 million decrease was driven by:
•

a $106 million decrease as a result of the remeasurement gain recognized from the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017, partially offset
by

•

a $24 million increase in equity earnings mainly due to additional revenue contracts on Sabal Trail and higher AFUDC related to NEXUS in
2018 and

•

a $5 million increase due to corporate allocations of pension costs.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $145 million increase was driven by:
•

a $94 million increase due to expansion projects primarily on Texas Eastern and Algonquin,

•

a $30 million increase in recoveries of electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,

•

a $25 million increase due to an adjustment to the 2017 regulatory liability established results from the U.S. Tax Reform and

•

a $22 million increase in natural gas transportation revenues mainly from firm transportation on Texas Eastern, partially offset by

•

a $12 million decrease in storage revenues mainly due to lower rates associated with contract renewals and

•

a $10 million decrease from Sabal Trail due to a change in accounting treatment as previously discussed.

Operating, maintenance and other. The $74 million increase was driven by:
•

a $43 million increase primarily due to allocated corporate shared-service costs previously reported in "Other",

•

a $30 million increase in electric power and other costs passed through to gas transmission customers,

•

a $25 million increase in repair and maintenance costs and higher pipeline integrity costs,

•

an $11 million increase in property tax accrual and

•

an $11 million increase in costs related to expansion, partially offset by

•

a $31 million decrease due to pipeline inspection and repair costs incurred in 2017 related to the 2016 Texas Eastern pipeline incident and

•

a $14 million decrease due to 2017 merger-related severance costs.

Other income and expenses. The $89 million decrease was driven by:
•

a $106 million decrease as a result of the remeasurement gain recognized from the deconsolidation of Sabal Trail in 2017 and

•

a $78 million decrease in equity AFUDC due to Sabal Trail being placed into service, partially offset by

•

a $76 million increase mainly due to higher equity earnings from Sabal Trail being placed into service and higher AFUDC related to NEXUS
in 2018 and

•

a $16 million increase due to corporate allocations of pension costs.
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Liquids
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

2018

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

(in millions)

Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other
Other income/(expense)

$

EBITDA

$

104

$

98

45
—

6

28
(3)

59

Express pipeline revenue receipts, MBbl/d (a)
Platte PADD II deliveries, MBbl/d (a)

$

$

67

259
123

$

314

17
3
$

(8)

255
119

$

305

114
1
$

9

104
(4)

201

4
4

$

$

197

261
129

10
5
$

4

260
133

1
(4)

______________

(a)

Thousand barrels per day.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $6 million increase in operating revenues was mainly driven by an increase in transportation volumes.
Operating, maintenance and other. The $17 million increase in operating expenses was mainly driven by an increase in property taxes,
higher regulatory expenses and allocated corporate costs.
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating revenues. The $9 million increase in operating revenues was mainly driven by an increase in inventory settlement.
Operating, maintenance and other. The $10 million increase in operating expenses was mainly driven by an increase in property taxes and
regulatory expenses.
Other income and expenses. The $5 million increase in other income was due to a loss on disposal of assets in 2017.
Other
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

2018

Increase
(Decrease)

2017

(in millions)

Operating expenses
Operating, maintenance and other

$

6

$

21

$

(15)

$

9

$

92

$

(83)

EBITDA

$

(6)

$

(21)

$

15

$

(9)

$

(92)

$

83

Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating, maintenance and other. The $15 million decrease was primarily due to lower allocated corporate shared-service costs previously
recorded in "Other".
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 Compared to Same Period in 2017
Operating, maintenance and other. The $83 million decrease was driven by:
•

a $49 million decrease due to lower allocated corporate shared-service costs previously recorded in "Other" and

•

a $34 million decrease due to 2017 merger-related severance costs.
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DISTRIBUTABLE CASH FLOW
We define Distributable Cash Flow as EBITDA plus
•

distributions from equity investments,

•

other non-cash items affecting net income, less

•

earnings from equity investments,

•

interest expense,

•

equity AFUDC,

•

net cash paid for income taxes,

•

distributions to noncontrolling interests, and

•

maintenance capital expenditures.

Distributable Cash Flow does not reflect changes in working capital balances. Distributable Cash Flow should not be viewed as indicative of
the actual amount of cash that we plan to distribute for a given period.
Distributable Cash Flow is the primary financial measure used by our management and by external users of our financial statements to
assess the amount of cash that is available for distribution.
Distributable Cash Flow is a non-GAAP measure and should not be considered an alternative to Net Income, Operating Income, cash from
operations or any other measure of financial performance or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Distributable Cash Flow excludes some,
but not all, items that affect Net Income and Operating Income and these measures may vary among other companies. Therefore, Distributable
Cash Flow as presented may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.
Significant drivers of variances in Distributable Cash Flow between the periods presented are substantially the same as those previously
discussed under Results of Operations. Other drivers include the timing of certain cash outflows, such as capital expenditures for maintenance.
30

Table of Contents

Reconciliation of Net Income to Non-GAAP “Distributable Cash Flow”
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2018

2018

2017

2017

(in millions)

Net income
Add:
Interest expense
Income tax expense
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign currency (gain) loss
Less:
Third party interest income

$

377

$

85
3
89
2

EBITDA
Add:
Earnings from equity investments
Distributions from equity investments
Non-cash impact of the U.S. Tax Reform
Other
Less:
Interest expense
Equity AFUDC
Net cash paid for income taxes
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Maintenance capital expenditures
$

Distributable Cash Flow

471

$

75
4
86
(1)

1,186

$

255
15
268
(1)

1,192
191
14
258
(1)

—

—

1

1

556

635

1,722

1,653

(81)
57
—
9

(161)
54
—
9

(210)
192
(25)
6

(239)
132
—
9

85
14
1
12
70

75
14
4
12
69

255
29
6
40
145

191
107
12
37
148

359

$

363

$

1,210

$

1,060

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of September 30, 2018, we had working capital of $138 million. We will rely upon cash flows from operations, including cash distributions
received from our equity affiliates, and various financing transactions, which may include debt and/or equity issuances, to fund our liquidity and
capital requirements for the next 12 months. We have access to a $2.5 billion multi-year unsecured revolving credit facility, with available capacity
of $835 million at September 30, 2018. This facility is used principally as a back-stop for our commercial paper program, which is used to manage
working capital requirements and for temporary funding of capital expenditures.
On September 5, 2018, we entered into the EUS 364-day Credit Facility which is a committed senior unsecured revolving credit facility that
permits aggregate borrowings of up to $750 million. At September 30, 2018, we had approximately $112 million in available credit under the terms
of this credit facility. This facility is used principally to manage working capital requirements and for temporary funding of capital expenditures.
Capital resources may continue to include commercial paper, short-term borrowings under our current credit facility and possibly securing
additional sources of capital including debt and/or equity. See Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion
of the available credit facilities and Financing Cash Flows and Liquidity below for a discussion of effective shelf registrations.
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Cash Flow Analysis
The following table summarizes the changes in cash flows for each of the periods presented:
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2018

2017
(in millions)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

1,257
(414)
(799)

Net increase (decrease) in Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the period

$

1,141
(1,889)
629

44
114
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the period

158

(119)
233
$

114

Operating Cash Flows
Net cash provided by operating activities increased $116 million to $1,257 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to
the same period in 2017, driven mainly by higher earnings and higher distributions from equity investments as a result of the positive operating
factors discussed in Results of Operations and changes in working capital.
Investing Cash Flows
Net cash used in investing activities decreased $1,475 million to $414 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to in
the same period in 2017. The change was mainly driven by:
•

a decrease of $912 million in capital expenditures primarily due to Sabal Trail being placed in-service in July 2017,

•

a $744 million distribution received from Sabal Trail in the second quarter of 2018 as a partial return of capital for construction and
development costs,

•

a net cash outflow of $67 million resulting from change in accounting treatment of Sabal Trail in 2017 as previously discussed in Results
of Operations and

•

$40 million in payments related to the purchase of intangibles during 2017, partially offset by

•

a $302 million increase in investments in and loans to unconsolidated affiliates mainly due to increased investment in NEXUS.
Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Capital and Investment Expenditures by Business Segment

2018

2017
(in millions)

U.S. Transmission
Liquids
Total consolidated

$

1,161
39

$

1,794
16

$

1,200

$

1,810

Capital and investment expenditures for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 consisted of $1.1 billion for expansion projects and $145
million for maintenance and other projects.
We project 2018 capital and investment expenditures of approximately $1.8 billion, consisting of $1.6 billion of expansion capital expenditures
and $0.2 billion for maintenance and upgrades of existing plants, pipelines and infrastructure to serve growth. These projections exclude
contributions from noncontrolling interests.
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Financing Cash Flows and Liquidity
Net cash used in financing activities totaled $799 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to $629 million provided by
financing activities in the same period in 2017. The change was mainly driven by:
• $589 million of repayments of the credit facility in 2018 compared to $1,459 million of issuances of the credit facility in 2017,
•

a $415 million decrease in contributions from noncontrolling interest as a result of Sabal Trail being classified as an unconsolidated
affiliate upon its deconsolidation in July 2017,

•

a $185 million increase in distributions to partners as a result of an increase in our quarterly per unit distribution and an increase in the
number of common units outstanding and

•

a $115 million decrease in proceeds from the issuances of units as a result of the issuance of common and general partner units in 2017,
partially offset by

•

a $316 million decrease in payments for the redemption of long-term debt,

•

$638 million of borrowings under the EUS 364-day Credit Facility in September 2018 and

•

$394 million in proceeds from the issuance of Texas Eastern 3.50% senior notes in January 2018.

Available Credit Facilities and Restrictive Debt Covenants. Our credit facility agreements and term debt indentures include common
events of default and covenant provisions, including a financial covenant, whereby accelerated repayment and/or termination of the agreements
may result if we were to default on payment or violate certain covenants. As of September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with the covenants.
See Note 8 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the available credit facilities and related financial and
other covenants.
Cash Distributions. A cash distribution of $0.77625 per limited partner unit was declared on November 1, 2018, payable on November 29,
2018.
Other Financing Matters. We have an effective shelf registration statement on file with the SEC to register the issuance of unspecified
amounts of limited partner common units and various debt securities. We have another effective registration statement on file with the SEC to
register the issuance of $1 billion, in the aggregate, of limited partner units over time. This registration has $186 million available as of
September 30, 2018.
OTHER ISSUES
New Accounting Pronouncements. See Note 2 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion.

Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Our exposure to market risk is described in Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. We believe
our exposure to market risk has not changed materially since then.

Item 4.

Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported,
within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Under the supervision and with the participation of the management of SEP GP, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of September 30, 2018, and, based upon this evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Under the supervision and with the participation of the management of our General Partner, including the Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, we have evaluated changes in internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2018 and found no change that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings.

Except for the matters described below, we have no material pending legal proceedings that are required to be disclosed hereunder. For more
information regarding other legal proceedings, including regulatory and environmental matters, see Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements, which information is incorporated by reference into this Part II.
Paul Morris v. Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Spectra Energy Corp, Defendants, and Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Nominal
Defendant
A putative class action lawsuit asserting direct and derivative claims was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery in March of 2016 by Paul
Morris (Plaintiff), a unitholder of SEP. The claims in the lawsuit relate to a transaction in October 2015 whereby 33% ownership interests in the
Sand Hills and Southern Hills pipelines were sold by us to Spectra Energy Corp (SE Corp) and, subsequent to that transaction, SE Corp
contributed those ownership interests to DCP Midstream, LLC, a joint venture in which SE Corp owns a 50% ownership interest. The lawsuit
alleges that the consideration paid to us by SE Corp in exchange for those ownership interests was approximately $525 million less than the
purported value of such ownership interests. The lawsuit asserted direct and derivative claims of breach of contract and breach of the implied duty
of good faith and fair dealing against SEP GP and direct and derivative claims of tortious interference with the SEP Limited Partnership Agreement
against SE Corp. SEP is also named as a “nominal” defendant in the lawsuit for the derivative claims.
On January 13, 2017, Plaintiff withdrew all of his direct claims in the lawsuit. On June 27, 2017, the Delaware Court of Chancery issued a
Memorandum Opinion dismissing the derivative claims of tortious interference against SE Corp and the breach of the implied duty of good faith
and fair dealing against SEP GP, leaving only the derivative claim for breach of the Limited Partnership Agreement against SEP GP pending. The
relief sought in the complaint includes rescission of the transaction, damages, interest and attorneys’ fees.
On August 24, 2018, Enbridge announced that it (on behalf of itself and certain of its wholly owned U.S. subsidiaries) had entered into a
definitive merger agreement with us under which Enbridge would acquire, subject to certain conditions, all of the outstanding common units of SEP
(other than those held by Enbridge and its wholly owned subsidiaries). If the Proposed Merger closes and Enbridge acquires all of the outstanding
common units of SEP (other than those held by Enbridge and its wholly owned subsidiaries), we would expect that Plaintiff would lose standing to
continue his derivative claims on behalf of SEP, and we would expect that Enbridge would become the owner of such derivative claims. As of
September 18, 2018, all proceedings in the lawsuit have been stayed at Plaintiff's request pending either the closing of the Proposed Merger or the
termination of the Merger Agreement, and the trial originally scheduled to begin December 11, 2018, has been removed from the Delaware Court of
Chancery’s calendar.
Sierra Club v. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Respondent, and Sabal Trail Transmission, LLC et al., IntervenorRespondents (D.C. Cir.)
Sierra Club and two other non-governmental organizations filed a Petition for Review of Sabal Trail’s FERC certificate on September 20, 2016
in the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals. On August 22, 2017, the D.C. Circuit issued an opinion denying one of the petitions, and granting the other
petition in part, vacating the certificates, and remanding the case to the FERC to supplement the environmental impact statement for the project to
estimate the quantity of green-house gases to be released into the environment by the gas-fired generation plants in Florida that will consume the
gas transported by Sabal Trail. The court withheld issuance of the mandate requiring vacatur of the certificate until seven days after the disposition
of any timely petition for rehearing. On October 6, 2017, Sabal Trail and the FERC each filed timely petitions for rehearing. On January 31, 2018,
the court denied FERC’s and Sabal Trail’s petitions for rehearing. On February 5, 2018, the FERC issued its final supplemental environmental
impact statement in compliance with the D.C. Circuit decision. In addition, on February 6, 2018, the FERC filed a motion with the court requesting
a 45-day stay of the mandate. On March 7, 2018, the Court granted FERC’s 45-day request for stay, and directed that issuance of the mandate be
withheld through March 26, 2018. On March 14, 2018, the FERC issued its Order on Remand Reinstating Certificate and Abandonment
Authorizations which addressed the Court’s ruling in the August 22, 2017 decision, and on March 30, 2018 the Court issued its mandate.
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Sierra Club and two other non-governmental organizations, as well as the two landowners, timely requested rehearing from the FERC of the
March 14, 2018 Order. On August 10, 2018, the FERC issued an order denying the requests of Sierra Club and others seeking Rehearing of
FERC's order on remand. No appeals related to the FERC's March 14, 2018 Order were timely filed and FERC's March 14, 2018 Order is now final
and non-appealable.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, careful consideration should be given to the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A.
Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, which could materially affect our financial condition or
future results. There have been no material changes to those risk factors except as described below.
The Proposed Merger is subject to conditions, including some conditions that may not be satisfied on a timely basis, if at all.
Failure to complete the Proposed Merger, or significant delays in completing the Proposed Merger, could negatively affect our business
and financial results and the trading prices of our common units.
The completion of the Proposed Merger is not assured and is subject to risks, including the risk that Enbridge shareholder approval is not
obtained. Further, the Proposed Merger may not be completed even if the Enbridge shareholder approval is obtained. The Merger Agreement
contains conditions, some of which are beyond our control, that, if not satisfied or waived, may prevent, delay or otherwise result in the Proposed
Merger not occurring.
If the Proposed Merger is not completed, or if there are significant delays in completing the Proposed Merger, Enbridge’s and our future
business and financial results and the trading price of our common units could be negatively affected, and each of the parties will be subject to
several risks, including the following:
•

the parties may be liable for expenses to one another under the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement;

•

there may be negative reactions from the financial markets due to the fact that current prices of our common units may reflect a market
assumption that the Proposed Merger will be completed.

Because the exchange ratio is fixed and because the market price of Enbridge common shares will fluctuate prior to the completion
of the Proposed Merger, our unitholders cannot be sure of the market value of the Enbridge common shares they will receive as merger
consideration relative to the value of our common units they exchange.
The market value of the consideration that our unitholders will receive in the Proposed Merger will depend on the trading price of Enbridge
common shares at the closing of the Proposed Merger. The exchange ratio that determines the number of Enbridge common shares that our
unitholders will receive in the Proposed Merger is fixed at 1.111 Enbridge common shares for each SEP common unit. This means that there is no
mechanism contained in the Merger Agreement that would adjust the number of Enbridge common shares that our unitholders will receive based
on any decreases or increases in the trading price of the Enbridge common shares. Share or unit price changes may result from a variety of
factors (many of which are beyond Enbridge’s and our control), including:
•

changes in Enbridge’s or our business, operations and prospects;

•

changes in market assessments of Enbridge’s or our business, operations and prospects;

•

changes in market assessments of the likelihood that the Proposed Merger will be completed;

•

interest rates, commodity prices, general market, industry and economic conditions and other factors generally affecting the price of
Enbridge common shares or our common units; and

•

federal, state and local legislation, governmental regulation and legal developments in the businesses in which Enbridge and we operate.

If the price of Enbridge common shares at the closing of the Proposed Merger is less than the price of Enbridge common shares on the date
that the Merger Agreement was signed, then the market value of the merger consideration will be less than contemplated at the time the Merger
Agreement was signed.
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When our common unitholders receive the merger consideration depends on the completion date of the Proposed Merger, which is
uncertain.
Completing the Proposed Merger is subject to several conditions, not all of which are controllable by us. Accordingly, the date on which our
unitholders will receive merger consideration depends on the completion date of the Proposed Merger, which is uncertain and subject to several
other closing conditions.
Item 5.

Other Information.

The EUS 364-day Credit Facility. On September 5, 2018, we entered into an unsecured revolving 364-day credit agreement with Enbridge
(U.S.) Inc., as lender. The EUS 364-day Credit Facility is a committed senior unsecured revolving credit facility that with revolving commitments of
$750 million. The EUS 364-Day Credit Facility has a scheduled termination date of 364 days from September 5, 2018 (the Revolving Credit
Commitment Termination Date). On the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date, we have the option to convert all outstanding revolving
advances to term loan advances, with such term loan advances having a scheduled termination date of 364 days from the Revolving Credit
Commitment Termination Date (such date, the Term Loan Commitment Termination Date). The EUS 364-day Credit Facility matures on (a) the
Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date, if we do not exercise our conversion option and (b) the Term Loan Commitment Termination Date,
if we do exercise our conversion option.
Advances under the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility bear interest at the Eurodollar Rate (as defined in the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility) plus an
applicable margin of 1.075%.
The EUS 364-Day Credit Facility contains certain customary representations, warranties, affirmative and negative covenants of SEP and
certain restricted subsidiaries, including a financial covenant requiring maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio of consolidated indebtedness
to consolidated EBITDA of no greater than 5.00 to 1.00 (provided that for the three fiscal quarters subsequent to the consummation of a Qualified
Acquisition (as defined in the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility), the consolidated leverage ratio shall be no greater than 5.50 to 1.00) and limitations on
certain liens to secure indebtedness and mergers and other fundamental changes.
Upon the occurrence of certain events of default, the SEP’s obligations under the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility may be accelerated. Such
events of default include payment defaults to the lender under the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility, cross-payment defaults and cross-acceleration
defaults for other material indebtedness, covenant defaults and other customary defaults.
The EUS 364-Day Credit Facility provides that proceeds from advances under the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility may be used for SEP’s and
its subsidiaries’ general corporate purposes.
As of September 30, 2018, we had $638 million outstanding under this facility, excluding any accrued interest to date. This facility is
classified as a long-term obligation since we have the ability and the intent to refinance the amounts outstanding on a long-term basis. As of
September 30, 2018, we were in compliance with all covenants contained therein.
The foregoing description of the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full and
complete terms of the EUS 364-Day Credit Facility, which is attached as Exhibit 10.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Item 6.

Exhibits.

Any agreements included as exhibits to this Form 10-Q may contain representations and warranties by each of the parties to the applicable
agreement. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the applicable agreement and:
•

were not intended to be treated as categorical statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties if those
statements prove to be inaccurate;

•

may have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other party in connection with the negotiation of the applicable agreement;

•

may apply contract standards of “materiality” that are different from “materiality” under the applicable securities laws; and

•

were made only as of the date of the applicable agreement or such other date or dates as may be specified in the agreement.

We acknowledge that, notwithstanding the inclusion of the foregoing cautionary statements, we are responsible for considering whether
additional specific disclosures of material information regarding material contractual provisions are required to make the statements in this Form
10-Q not misleading.
(a) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 24, 2018, by and among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, Spectra
Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, Enbridge Inc., Enbridge (U.S.) Inc., Autumn Acquisition Sub, LLC, and solely for the
purposes of Articles I, II and XI, Enbridge US Holdings Inc., Spectra Energy Corp, Spectra Energy Capital, LLC and
Spectra Energy Transmission, LLC (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to Spectra Energy Partners, LP’s Form 8-K dated August 24,
2018).

*10.1

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 5, 2018, by and between Spectra Energy Partners, LP, as Borrower, and
Enbridge (U.S.) Inc., as Lender.

*31.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*31.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

*32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

*101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

*101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

*101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase.

*101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase.

*101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase.

*101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase.

*

Filed herewith

The total amount of securities of the registrant or its subsidiaries authorized under any instrument with respect to long-term debt not filed as
an exhibit does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The registrant agrees, upon
request of the SEC, to furnish copies of any or all of such instruments to it.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP

Date: November 1, 2018

By:

Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP,
its general partner

By:

Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC,
its general partner

By:

/S/

William T. Yardley

William T. Yardley
President and Chairman of the Board

Date: November 1, 2018

By:

/S/

Stephen J. Neyland

Stephen J. Neyland
Vice President—Finance
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Dated as of September 5, 2018,
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and
ENBRIDGE (U.S.) INC.,
as Lender
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CREDIT AGREEMENT
Dated as of September 5, 2018
This CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of September 5, 2018, among SPECTRA
ENERGY PARTNERS, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Borrower”), and ENBRIDGE (U.S.) INC., (“Lender”), as lender.
Whereas, the Borrower has requested that the Lender commit to lend to the Borrower up to $750,000,000 (i) on a
revolving basis for a 364-day period, extendible annually in the Lender’s discretion upon written request by the Borrower and (ii) for a
364-day term on a non-revolving basis following the expiration of the then-applicable revolving period; and
WHEREAS, the Lender is willing to make such loan on the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto
covenant and agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND ACCOUNTING TERMS
SECTION 1.01. Certain Defined Terms.As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings
(such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined):
“Acquisition” by any Person, means the acquisition by such Person, in a single transaction or in a series of related
transactions, of the property or assets (including Equity Securities of any Person but excluding capital expenditures or acquisitions of
inventory or supplies in the ordinary course of business) of, or of a business unit or division of, another Person or at least a majority of
the Voting Stock of another Person, in each case whether or not involving a merger or consolidation with such other Person and
whether for cash, property, services, assumption of Indebtedness, securities or otherwise.
“Advance” means an advance made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to Article II of this Agreement, as part of a
Borrowing in the form of a Revolving Advance or a Term Loan.
“Affiliate” means, as to any Person (the “specified Person”) (a) any Person that directly, or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, controls the specified Person (a “Controlling Person”) or (b) any Person (other than the specified Person or a
Subsidiary of the specified Person) that is controlled by or is under common control with a Controlling Person. As used herein, the
term “control” means possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a
Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. Unless otherwise specified, Affiliate means an
Affiliate of the Borrower.
“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereto.
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“Applicable Margin” means, as of any date, 1.075% per annum.
“Approved Officer” means the president, a vice president, the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, the
treasurer, an assistant treasurer or the controller of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General
Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) or such other representative of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity
as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) as may be designated by any one of the
foregoing with the consent of the Agent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
“Assignment and Acceptance” means an assignment and acceptance entered into by the Lender and an assignee, in
substantially the form of Exhibit B hereto.
“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.
“Borrowing” means an Advance made by the Lender pursuant to Section 2.01.
“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York
City are required or authorized by law to remain closed and, if the applicable Business Day relates to any Eurodollar Rate Advances,
any day on which commercial banks are open for dealings in deposits denominated in dollars in the London interbank market.
“Change in Law” means the occurrence after the date of this Agreement or, with respect to any Lender that becomes a
party to this Agreement after the date hereof, such later date on which such Lender becomes a party to this Agreement, of (a) the
adoption of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation or treaty or in the interpretation or application
thereof by any governmental authority or (c) compliance by any Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.12(b), by any corporation
controlling such Lender, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any central bank or
other governmental authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement; provided that, notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives
thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank for
International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or
foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date
enacted, adopted or issued.
“Commercial Operation Date” means the date on which a Qualified Project is substantially complete and commercially
operable.
“Commitment” means, the Lender’s obligation to make Advances to the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.01(a), in an
aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the amount set forth opposite the Lender’s name on Schedule 2.01 or
in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which a Lender becomes party hereto, as applicable, as such amount may be reduced
or adjusted from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.
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“Consolidated Capitalization” means, at any date, the sum of (a) Consolidated Indebtedness, (b) consolidated partners’
capital as would appear on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries prepared in accordance
with GAAP, (c) the aggregate liquidation preference of preferred member or other similar preferred or priority Equity Securities (other
than preferred member or other similar preferred or priority Equity Securities subject to mandatory redemption or repurchase) of the
Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries upon involuntary liquidation, (d) without duplication of the amount, if any, of Hybrid
Securities included in Consolidated Indebtedness by virtue of the proviso in the definition of such term, the aggregate outstanding
amount of all Hybrid Securities of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries and (e) minority interests as would appear on a
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated EBITDA” means, for any period, an amount equal to the sum of (a) Consolidated Net Income plus (b) to
the extent deducted in determining Consolidated Net Income, (i) interest expense, (ii) income tax expense, and (iii) depreciation and
amortization expense, minus (c) equity in earnings from subsidiaries of the Borrower that are not Consolidated Subsidiaries, plus (d)
the amount of cash dividends actually received during such period by the Borrower on a consolidated basis from subsidiaries of the
Borrower that are not Consolidated Subsidiaries or other Persons; provided, any such cash dividends actually received within thirty
days after the last day of any fiscal quarter attributable to operations during such prior fiscal quarter shall be deemed to have been
received during such prior fiscal quarter and not in the fiscal quarter actually received. Furthermore, (x) for purposes of the foregoing
clauses (a) and (b), the Consolidated Net Income and consolidated expenses shall be adjusted with respect to net income and expenses
of non-wholly-owned Consolidated Subsidiaries, to the extent not already excluded from Consolidated Net Income, to reflect the
Borrower’s pro rata ownership interest therein, and (y) the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA shall exclude amounts categorized as
other income or other expense to the extent not already excluded from Consolidated Net Income. Consolidated EBITDA will be
calculated in accordance with clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 5.11(b) to the extent applicable.
“Consolidated Indebtedness” means, as of any date, all Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries
determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP plus, without duplication, all Indebtedness described in clause (e) of the
definition thereof, but excluding the aggregate principal amount of all Cash Collateralized Term Loans; provided, that solely for
purposes of this definition Hybrid Securities shall constitute Indebtedness only to the extent, if any, that the amount thereof that appears
on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries exceeds 15% of Consolidated Capitalization.
“Consolidated Leverage Ratio” means, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, the ratio of (a)
Consolidated Indebtedness on such day to (b) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on such
day.
“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, the net income of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries
for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided, that Consolidated Net Income shall not
include (a) extraordinary gains or extraordinary losses, (b) net gains and losses in respect of disposition of assets other than in the
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ordinary course of business, (c) gains or losses attributable to write-ups or write-downs of assets, including mark-to-market gains or
losses with respect to Swap Contracts; provided that such Swap Contracts (i) were entered into by such Person in the ordinary course
of business for the purpose of directly mitigating risks associated with liabilities, commitments, Investments, assets, or property held or
reasonably anticipated by such Person, or changes in the value of securities issued by such Person, and not for purposes of speculation
or taking a “market view” and (ii) do not contain any provision exonerating the non-defaulting party from its obligation to make
payments on outstanding transactions to the defaulting party, and (d) the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles, all as
reported in the Borrower’s consolidated statement(s) of income for the relevant period(s) prepared in accordance with GAAP.
“Consolidated Net Tangible Assets” means, as of any date, the total amount of consolidated assets of the Borrower and
the Consolidated Subsidiaries after deducting therefrom the value (net of any applicable reserves) of all goodwill, trade names,
trademarks, patents and other like intangible assets, all as set forth, or on a pro forma basis would be set forth, on the consolidated
balance sheet of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries for the most recently completed fiscal quarter, in accordance with
GAAP.
“Consolidated Subsidiaries” means each Restricted Subsidiary of the Borrower.
“Default” means any Event of Default or any event that would constitute an Event of Default but for the requirement
that notice be given or time elapse or both.
“dollars” or “$” refers to lawful money of the United States of America.
“Drawdown Date” means the date on which a Borrowing is made by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions hereof
and which shall be a Business Day.
“Drawdown Notice” means a written notice to be given to the Lender by an authorized representative of the Borrower
pursuant hereto.
“Effective Date” has the meaning specified in Section 3.01.
“Environmental Action” means any action, suit, demand, demand letter, claim, notice of non-compliance or violation,
notice of liability or potential liability, investigation, proceeding, consent order or consent agreement relating in any way to any
Environmental Law, Environmental Permit or Hazardous Materials or arising from alleged injury or threat of injury to health, safety or
the environment, including, without limitation, (a) by any governmental or regulatory authority for enforcement, cleanup, removal,
response, remedial or other actions or damages and (b) by any governmental or regulatory authority or any third party for damages,
contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, compensation or injunctive relief.
“Environmental Law” means any federal, state, local or foreign statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, code, order,
judgment, decree or judicial or agency interpretation, policy or guidance relating to pollution or protection of the environment, health,
safety or natural resources,
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in each case, relating to the use, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, release or discharge of Hazardous Materials.
“Environmental Permit” means any permit, approval, identification number, license or other authorization required
under any Environmental Law.
“Equity Securities” means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of
capital stock of a corporation, any and all equivalent ownership interests in a Person (other than a corporation), including, without
limitation, partnership interests and membership interests, and any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase or other arrangements
or rights to acquire any of the foregoing.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and the
regulations promulgated and rulings issued thereunder.
“ERISA Group” means all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not
incorporated) under common control which, together with the Borrower, would (at the applicable time) be deemed as a single
employer under Section 414 of the Internal Revenue Code.
“Eurocurrency Liabilities” has the meaning assigned to that term in Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System, as in effect from time to time.
“Eurodollar Rate” means, for any Interest Period for each Eurodollar Rate Advance comprising part of the same
Borrowing, (a) the London interbank offered rate as administered by ICE Benchmark Administration (or any other Person that takes
over the administration of such rate) for dollars for a period equal in length to such Interest Period as displayed on pages LIBOR01 or
LIBOR02 of the Reuters screen that displays such rate (or, in the event such rate does not appear on a Reuters page or screen, on any
successor or substitute page on such screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service that
publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Lender in its reasonable discretion; in each case the “Screen Rate”) at
approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on the commencement of such Interest Period; provided that if the Screen Rate shall be less
than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement; provided further that if the Screen Rate shall not be
available at such time for such Interest Period (an “Impacted Interest Period”) then the Eurodollar Rate shall be the Interpolated Rate;
provided that if any Interpolated Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement,
divided by (b) one minus the Eurodollar Rate Reserve Percentage.
“Eurodollar Rate Advance” means an Advance that bears interest as provided in Section 2.06(a)(ii).
“Eurodollar Rate Reserve Percentage” means, for any Interest Period for all Eurodollar Rate Advances comprising part
of the same Borrowing, the reserve percentage applicable two Business Days before the first day of such Interest Period under
regulations issued from time to time by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining
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the maximum reserve requirement (including, without limitation, any emergency, supplemental or other marginal reserve requirement)
for a member bank of the Federal Reserve System in New York City with respect to liabilities or assets consisting of or including
Eurocurrency Liabilities (or with respect to any other category of liabilities that includes deposits by reference to which the interest rate
on Eurodollar Rate Advances is determined) having a term equal to such Interest Period.
“Events of Default” has the meaning specified in Section 6.01.
“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any
amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future
regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code
and any intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another country to implement such Sections of the Internal
Revenue Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices officially adopted by a government or governmental authority
pursuant to such intergovernmental agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, Section 1.04(f) shall not apply for purposes of this
definition.
“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
“General Partner” means Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, a Delaware limited partnership.
“Hazardous Materials” means (a) petroleum and petroleum products, byproducts or breakdown products, radioactive
materials, asbestos-containing materials, polychlorinated biphenyls and radon gas and (b) any other chemicals, materials or substances
designated, classified or regulated as hazardous or toxic or as a pollutant or contaminant under any Environmental Law.
“Hybrid Securities” means any trust preferred securities, or deferrable interest subordinated debt with a maturity of at
least 20 years, which provides for the optional or mandatory deferral of interest or distributions, issued by the Borrower or any
Consolidated Subsidiary, or any business trusts, limited liability companies, limited partnerships or similar entities (i) substantially all of
the common equity, general partner or similar interests of which are owned (either directly or indirectly through one or more wholly
owned Subsidiaries) at all times by the Borrower or any of the Consolidated Subsidiaries, (ii) that have been formed for the purpose of
issuing hybrid securities or deferrable interest subordinated debt, and (iii) substantially all the assets of which consist of (A)
subordinated debt of the Borrower or a Consolidated Subsidiary, and (B) payments made from time to time on the subordinated debt.
“Impacted Interest Period” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of Eurodollar Rate.
“Indebtedness” of any Person means at any date, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed
money, (b) all indebtedness of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services purchased (excluding current
accounts payable incurred in
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the ordinary course of business), (c) all indebtedness created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with
respect to property acquired, (d) all indebtedness under leases which shall have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP as in
effect on the Effective Date, recorded as capital leases in respect of which such Person is liable as lessee, (e) the face amount of all
outstanding letters of credit issued for the account of such Person that support obligations that constitute Indebtedness (provided that
the amount of such letter of credit included in Indebtedness shall not exceed the amount of the Indebtedness being supported) and,
without duplication, the unreimbursed amount of all drafts drawn under letters of credit issued for the account of such Person, (f)
indebtedness secured by any Lien on property or assets of such Person, whether or not assumed (but in any event not exceeding the
fair market value of the property or asset), (g) all direct guarantees of Indebtedness referred to above of another Person, (h) all amounts
payable in connection with Hybrid Securities or mandatory redemptions or repurchases of preferred stock or member interests or other
preferred or priority Equity Securities and (i) any obligations of such Person (in the nature of principal or interest) in respect of
acceptances or similar obligations issued or created for the account of such Person. Furthermore, for purposes of the foregoing clauses
(a) through (i), Indebtedness of the Borrower shall be adjusted with respect to Indebtedness of non-wholly-owned Consolidated
Subsidiaries with no recourse to the Borrower or any wholly-owned Consolidated Subsidiary thereof, to the extent not already
excluded from Indebtedness, to reflect the Borrower’s pro rata ownership interest therein.
“Indemnified Party” has the meaning specified in Section 8.04(b).
“Information” has the meaning specified in Section 8.13(a).“Interest Period” means the period commencing on the
applicable Drawdown Date and terminating on the date selected by the Borrower hereunder for the repayment of such Advance,
provided that in any case: (i) the last day of each Interest Period shall be also the first day of the next Interest Period whether with
respect to the same or another Advance; (ii) the last day of each Interest Period shall be a Business Day and if the last day of an Interest
Period selected by the Borrower is not a Business Day the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period the last day of
which is the Business Day next following the last day of the Interest Period selected unless such next following Business Day falls in
the next calendar month in which event the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period the last day of which is the
Business Day next preceding the last day of the Interest Period selected by the Borrower; and (iii) the last day of all Interest Periods for
Advances outstanding under this Agreement shall expire on or prior to the Termination Date.
“Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the regulations
promulgated and rulings issued thereunder.
“Interest Period” means, for each Eurodollar Rate Advance comprising part of the same Borrowing, the period
commencing on the date of such Eurodollar Rate Advance and ending on the last day of the period selected by the Borrower pursuant
to the provisions below and, thereafter, each subsequent period commencing on the last day of the immediately preceding Interest
Period and ending on the last day of the period selected by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions below. The duration of each such
Interest Period shall be one, two, three or six months (or, with the consent of each Lender, such other periods), as the Borrower may,
upon notice received by the Lender not
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later than 10:00 a.m. Calgary time on the proposed Drawdown Date, select; provided, however, that:
(a) the Borrower may not select any Interest Period that ends after the Termination Date;
(b)
Interest Periods commencing on the same date for Eurodollar Rate Advances comprising part of the same
Borrowing shall be of the same duration;
(c) whenever the last day of any Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day other than a Business Day, the last
day of such Interest Period shall be extended to occur on the next succeeding Business Day, provided, however, that, if such extension
would cause the last day of such Interest Period to occur in the next following calendar month, the last day of such Interest Period shall
occur on the next preceding Business Day; and
(d) whenever the first day of any Interest Period occurs on a day of an initial calendar month for which there is no
numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that succeeds such initial calendar month by the number of months equal to the
number of months in such Interest Period, such Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of such succeeding calendar month.
“Interpolated Rate” means, at any time, for any Interest Period, the rate per annum (rounded to the same number of
decimal places as the Screen Rate) determined by the Lender (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest
error) to be equal to the rate that results from interpolating on a linear basis between: (a) the Screen Rate for the longest period (for
which the Screen Rate is available) that is shorter than the Impacted Interest Period; and (b) the Screen Rate for the shortest period (for
which the Screen Rate is available) that exceeds the Impacted Interest Period, in each case, at such time.
“Investment” means, as to any Person, any direct or indirect acquisition or investment by such Person, whether by
means of (a) the purchase or other acquisition of the Equity Securities of another Person, (b) an Acquisition or (c) a loan, advance or
capital contribution to, guarantee or assumption of debt of, or purchase or other acquisition of any other debt or equity participation or
interest in, another Person, including any partnership or joint venture interest in such other Person and any arrangement pursuant to
which the investor guarantees Indebtedness of such other Person.
“Judgment Currency” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 8.14(b).
“Lending Office” means the office or offices of the Lender set forth in Schedule 1.01, or such other office or offices as
the Lender may from time to time notify the Borrower.
“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest or encumbrance of any
kind in respect of such asset. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall be deemed to own subject to a
Lien any asset that it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital
lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset.
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“Material Adverse Change” means any material adverse change in the business, financial condition or results of
operations of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole.
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, financial condition or results of
operations of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole, or (b) the legality, validity or enforceability of this
Agreement or any Note.
“Material Plan” has the meaning specified in Section 6.01(h).
“Material Restricted Subsidiary” means at any time any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Material Subsidiary.
“Material Subsidiary” means at any time any Subsidiary that is a significant subsidiary (as such term is defined on the
Effective Date in Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission (17 CFR 210.1-02(w)), but treating all references to the
“registrant” therein as references to the Borrower.
“Note” means a promissory note made by the Borrower in favor of the Lender evidencing the Revolving Advances (or,
after the occurrence of the Term Conversion Date, the Term Loan) made by the Lender, substantially in the form of Exhibit A.
“Other Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(b).
“Patriot Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and
Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (Title III of Pub. L. No. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)).
“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (or any successor).
“Permitted Acquisitions” means any Acquisition by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary, so long as (i) no
Default or Event of Default is in existence or would be created thereby, (ii) the Person or assets being acquired are engaged or used (or
intended to be used), as applicable, primarily in the midstream energy business, (iii) such Acquisition has been approved by the Board
of Directors or similar governing body of the target of such Acquisition (if required or applicable) and (iv) immediately after giving
effect to such acquisition, the Borrower is in compliance with Section 5.11(a) on a pro forma basis.
“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation (including a business trust), joint stock company, trust,
unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity, or a government or any political subdivision or
agency thereof.
“Plan” means at any time an “employee pension benefit plan” (within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA) that is
covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding standards under Section 430 (or predecessor statute thereto) of the
Internal Revenue Code, and (a) is either (i) maintained by a member of the ERISA Group for employees of a member of the ERISA
Group or (ii) maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or any other arrangement
9

under which more than one employer makes contributions, and (b) to which a member of the ERISA Group (i) is then making or
accruing an obligation to make contributions or (ii) has within the preceding five plan years made contributions or accrued an
obligation to make such contributions.
“Qualified Acquisition” means a Permitted Acquisition, the aggregate purchase price for which, when combined with
the aggregate purchase price for all other Permitted Acquisitions in any rolling 12-month period, is greater than or equal to
$25,000,000.
“Qualified Project” means the construction or expansion of any capital project of the Borrower, any of the Consolidated
Subsidiaries, or any subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a Consolidated Subsidiary (including any Unrestricted Subsidiary), the
aggregate capital cost of which exceeds $10,000,000.
“Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments” shall mean, with respect to each Qualified Project:
(a) prior to the Commercial Operation Date of a Qualified Project (but including the fiscal quarter in which such
Commercial Operation Date occurs), a percentage (based on the then-current completion percentage of such Qualified Project) of an
amount to be approved by the Agent as the projected Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries
attributable to such Qualified Project for the first 12-month period following the scheduled Commercial Operation Date of such
Qualified Project (such amount to be determined based on customer contracts relating to such Qualified Project, the creditworthiness of
the other parties to such contracts, and projected revenues from such contracts, capital costs and expenses, scheduled Commercial
Operation Date, oil and gas reserve and production estimates, commodity price assumptions and other reasonable factors deemed
appropriate by Agent), which may, at the Borrower’s option, be added to actual Consolidated EBITDA for the Borrower and the
Consolidated Subsidiaries for the fiscal quarter in which construction of such Qualified Project commences and for each fiscal quarter
thereafter until the Commercial Operation Date of such Qualified Project (including the fiscal quarter in which such Commercial
Operation Date occurs, but net of any actual Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to
such Qualified Project following such Commercial Operation Date); provided that if the actual Commercial Operation Date does not
occur by the scheduled Commercial Operation Date, then the foregoing amount shall be reduced, for quarters ending after the
scheduled Commercial Operation Date to (but excluding) the first full quarter after its actual Commercial Operation Date, by the
following percentage amounts depending on the period of delay (based on the period of actual delay or then-estimated delay,
whichever is longer): (i) 90 days or less, 0%, (ii) longer than 90 days, but not more than 180 days, 25%, (iii) longer than 180 days but
not more than 270 days, 50%, and (iv) longer than 270 days, 100%; and
(b)
thereafter, actual Consolidated EBITDA of Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to such
Qualified Project for each full fiscal quarter after the Commercial Operation Date, plus the amount approved by Agent pursuant to
clause (a) above as the projected Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to such
Qualified Project for the fiscal quarters constituting the balance of the four full fiscal quarter period following such Commercial
Operation Date; provided, in the event the actual Consolidated EBITDA
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of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to such Qualified Project for any full fiscal quarter after the Commercial
Operation Date shall materially differ from the projected Consolidated EBITDA approved by Agent pursuant to clause (a) above for
such fiscal quarter, the projected Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to such
Qualified Project for any remaining fiscal quarters included in the foregoing calculation shall be redetermined in the same manner as set
forth in clause (a) above, such amount to be approved by the Agent, which may, at the Borrower’s option, be added to actual
Consolidated EBITDA for the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries for such fiscal quarters.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) no such additions shall be allowed with respect to any Qualified Project unless: (A)
not later than 30 days prior to the delivery of any certificate required by the terms and provisions of Section 5.01(c) to the extent
Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments will be made to Consolidated EBITDA in determining compliance with Section 5.11(a), the
Borrower shall have delivered to the Agent written pro forma projections of Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the
Consolidated Subsidiaries attributable to such Qualified Project and (B) prior to the date such certificate is required to be delivered, the
Agent shall have approved (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) such projections and shall have received such other
information and documentation as the Agent may reasonably request, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent,
(ii) Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments may also be made with respect to any Qualified Project of any subsidiary of the Borrower
that is not a Consolidated Subsidiary (including any Unrestricted Subsidiary); provided that (x) any such Qualified Project EBITDA
Adjustments shall be determined in the manner set forth above for the Consolidated Subsidiaries, but based solely upon the projected
(prior to the Commercial Operation Date) and actual (on and after the Commercial Operation Date) cash dividends projected to be
received or actually received by the Borrower from such subsidiary and (y) such subsidiary is financing such Qualified Project with
funds from the Borrower and its Consolidated Subsidiaries (to the extent of the Borrower’s pro rata ownership interest in such
subsidiary), and the Agent has received a certificate from the Borrower to such effect, including such other information and
documentation as the Agent may reasonably request, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, and (iii) the
aggregate amount of all Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments during any period shall be limited to 20% of the total actual
Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries for such period (which total actual Consolidated EBITDA
shall be determined without including any Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments).
“Restricted Subsidiary” means all Subsidiaries of the Borrower other than Unrestricted Subsidiaries.
“Revolving Advance” has the meaning specified in Section 2.01(a).
“Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date” means 364 days from Effective Date or such later date (in one or
more 364 day extensions) as may be agreed to by the Lender pursuant to Section 2.05(e).
“Scheduled Termination Date” means (i) if the Borrower does not exercise the term conversion option described in
Section 2.0l(b), the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination
11

Date, or (ii) if the Borrower exercises the term conversion option described in Section 2.0l(b), the date that is 364 days after the Term
Conversion Date.
“Screen Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of Eurodollar Rate.
“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, limited liability company,
partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent’s
consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date. Unless
otherwise specified, “Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
“Swap Contract” means, to the extent entered into on a fair market value basis at the time of entry, (a) any and all rate
swap transactions, basis swaps, credit derivative transactions, forward rate transactions, commodity swaps, commodity options,
forward commodity contracts, equity or equity index swaps or options, bond or bond price or bond index swaps or options or forward
bond or forward bond price or forward bond index transactions, interest rate options, forward foreign exchange transactions, cap
transactions, floor transactions, collar transactions, currency swap transactions, cross-currency rate swap transactions, currency options,
spot contracts, or any other similar transactions or any combination of any of the foregoing (including any options to enter into any of
the foregoing), whether or not any such transaction is governed by or subject to any master agreement, and (b) any and all transactions
of any kind, and the related confirmations, which are subject to the terms and conditions of, or governed by, any form of master
agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., any International Foreign Exchange Master
Agreement, or any other master agreement (any such master agreement, together with any related schedules, a “Master Agreement”),
including any such obligations or liabilities under any Master Agreement.
“Taxes” has the meaning specified in Section 2.15(a).
“Term Conversion Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b).
“Term Loan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b).
“Termination Date” means the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Termination Date or (ii) the date upon which the
Commitment may be terminated in accordance with the terms hereof.
“Ultimate General Partner” means Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“Ultimate Parent” means Enbridge Inc.
“Unfunded Vested Liabilities” means, with respect to any Plan at any time, the amount (if any) by which (a) the present
value of all benefits under such Plan exceeds (b) the fair market value of all Plan assets allocable to such benefits, all determined as of
the then most recent valuation date for such Plan.
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“Unrestricted Subsidiary” means (a) any Subsidiary designated by the Board of Directors or similar governing body of
the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as the general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the
Borrower) as an Unrestricted Subsidiary pursuant to Section 5.12 subsequent to the date hereof and (b) any Subsidiary of an
Unrestricted Subsidiary.
“Voting Stock” means capital stock issued by a corporation, or equivalent interests in any other Person, the holders of
which are ordinarily, in the absence of contingencies, entitled to vote for the election of directors (or persons performing similar
functions) of such Person, even if the right so to vote has been suspended by the happening of such a contingency.
“Withholding Agent” means the Borrower.
SECTION 1.02. Computation of Time Periods.
In this Agreement in the computation of periods of time from a specified date to a later specified date, the word “from” means “from
and including” and the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but excluding”.
SECTION 1.03. Accounting Terms.
Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with
GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Lender that the Borrower requests an amendment to
be applied on a basis consistent (except for changes concurred in by the Borrower’s independent public accountants) with the most
recent audited consolidated financial statements of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries delivered to the Lender any provision
hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of
such provision, or if the Lender notifies the Borrower that a request for an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose,
regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision
shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until
such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision shall have been amended in accordance herewith. Notwithstanding any other
provision contained herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of
amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any election under Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification 825 (or any other Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any
Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary at “fair value”, as defined therein.

SECTION 1.04. Terms Generally.
Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words
“include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed
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by the phrase “without limitation”. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”. Unless
the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be
construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to
any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, (c) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and
words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all
references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and
Schedules to, this Agreement, (e) the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer
to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights and (f) references to
any statute or regulatory provision shall include all statutory and regulatory provisions consolidating, amending, replacing,
supplementing or interpreting such statute or regulatory provision.
SECTION 1.05. [reserved].
SECTION 1.06. [reserved].
SECTION 1.07. [reserved].
SECTION 1.08. [reserved].
ARTICLE II
THE COMMITMENT AND CREDIT ADVANCES
SECTION 2.01. The Advances; Conversion to Term Loans.
(a) Revolving Advances. The Lender agrees, on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, to make Advances to
the Borrower (each such Advance, a “Revolving Advance”) from time to time on any Business Day during the period from the
Effective Date until the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date in an aggregate amount not to exceed at any time outstanding
the amount of the Lender’s Commitment. Each Borrowing shall be in the aggregate amount of $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of
$1,000,000 in excess thereof and shall consist of Revolving Advances made on the same day by the Lender. Within the limits of the
Commitment, the Borrower may borrow under this Section 2.01(a), prepay pursuant to Section 2.10 and reborrow under this Section
2.01(a).
(b) Term Loan. As of the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date, the Borrower shall have the option to
convert all (but not less than all) outstanding Revolving Advances to a term loan ("Term Loan") in the same principal amount
outstanding as the Revolving Advances as of such Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date (such Revolving Credit
Commitment Termination Date being referred to herein as the "Term Conversion Date"); provided, however, that any such conversion
shall not be effective until the following conditions are satisfied: (i) the Borrower shall have provided to the Lender a Drawdown
Notice at least one Business Day prior to
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the Term Conversion Date; (ii) the Borrower shall have provided to the Lender a certificate from a Responsible Officer certifying that
as of such date of conversion the conditions set forth in Section 3.02(a) and Section 3.02(b) shall have been satisfied; and (iii) the
Borrower shall have paid all fees and expenses then due under this Agreement for the account of the Lender. Once repaid or prepaid,
the Term Loan may not be reborrowed.
SECTION 2.02. Making the Advances
(a) Notice of Borrowing. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Borrower may make a Borrowing under this Agreement
by delivering a Drawdown Notice with respect to an Advance to the Lender not later than 10:00 a.m. Calgary time on the proposed
Drawdown Date. The Lender shall, for same day value on the Drawdown Date specified by the Borrower in a Drawdown Notice with
respect to an Advance, pay to the Borrower the full amount in accordance with any payment instructions set forth in the applicable
Drawdown Notice.
SECTION 2.03. [reserved].
SECTION 2.04. Fees.
(a) Facility Fee. The Borrower agrees to pay the Lender for its account a facility fee on the average daily amount of
the Commitment (whether used or unused) from the Effective Date until the Termination Date at a rate per annum equal to 0.175% in
effect from time to time, payable in arrears quarterly on the last day of each March, June, September and December, commencing
December 31, 2018, and on the Termination Date. The facility fee shall accrue at all times, including at any time during which one or
more of the conditions in Article III is not met.
(b) [reserved].
(c) [reserved].
SECTION 2.05. Termination or Reduction of Commitment.
(a) Termination Date. Unless previously terminated, the Commitment shall terminate on the Termination Date.
(b) Optional Termination or Reduction of Commitment.
(i) The Borrower may at any time terminate, or from time to time reduce, the Commitment; provided that each
reduction of the Commitment shall be in an amount that is at least $10,000,000 and integral multiples of $1,000,000 in excess
thereof. Once reduced in accordance with this Section 2.05(b), the Commitment may not be increased. All facility fees accrued
until the effective date of any termination of the Commitment shall be paid on the effective date of such termination.
(ii) [reserved].
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(c) Notice of Termination or Reduction. The Borrower shall notify in writing the Lender of any election to terminate
or reduce the Commitment under Section 2.05(b) at least three Business Days prior to the effective date of such termination or
reduction, specifying such election and the effective date thereof. Each notice delivered by the Borrower pursuant to this Section
2.05(c) shall be irrevocable; provided that a notice of termination of the Commitment delivered by the Borrower may state that such
notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities, in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower if such
condition is not satisfied. Any termination or reduction of the Commitment shall be permanent.
(d) [reserved].
(e) Extension of Termination Date. The Borrower may, by written notice to the Lender not less than 30 days prior to
the applicable Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date, request that the Lender extend the Revolving Credit Commitment
Termination Date and the Commitment for an additional period of 364 days. If the Lender agrees to an extension request, then the
Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date shall be extended for an additional period of 364 days. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, no extension of the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date pursuant to this Section 2.05(e) shall become effective
unless on the Revolving Credit Commitment Termination Date proposed to be extended pursuant to this Section 2.05(e) the conditions
set forth in clauses (a) and (b) of Section 3.02 shall be satisfied (with all references in such clauses to a Borrowing being deemed to be
references to such extension and without giving effect to the first parenthetical in Section 3.02(a)) and the Lender shall have received a
certificate to that effect dated such date and executed by the Chief Financial Officer or the Treasurer of the Ultimate General Partner (in
its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower).
(f) [reserved].
SECTION 2.06. Interest on Advances.
(a) Scheduled Interest. The Borrower shall pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Advance owing to the
Lender from the date of such Advance until such principal amount shall be paid in full, at the following rates per annum:
(i) [reserved].
(ii) Eurodollar Rate Advances. During such periods as such Advance is a Eurodollar Rate Advance, a rate per annum
equal at all times during each Interest Period for such Advance to the sum of (x) the Eurodollar Rate for such Interest Period for
such Advance plus (y) the Applicable Margin in effect from time to time, payable in arrears on the last day of such Interest
Period, and, if such Interest Period has a duration of more than three months, on each day that occurs during such Interest
Period every three months from the first day of such Interest Period, and on the date such Eurodollar Rate Advance shall be
converted into the Term Loan or paid in full.
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(b) Default Interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Advance or any fee or other
amount payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such
overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, payable on demand, for each day from and including the date
payment thereof was due to but excluding the date of actual payment, at a rate per annum equal to 2% plus the rate otherwise
applicable to such Advance as provided in Section 2.06(a).
(c) Notice of Interest Period and Interest Rate. Promptly after receipt of a Drawdown Notice pursuant to Section
2.02(a) or a notice of selection of an Interest Period pursuant to the terms of the definition of “Interest Period,” the Lender shall advise
the Borrower of the applicable Interest Period and the applicable interest rate determined by the Lender for purposes of clause (a)(ii)
above.
SECTION 2.07. [reserved].
SECTION 2.08. [reserved].
SECTION 2.09. Mandatory Payments and Prepayments of Advances.
(a) Termination Date.
(i) The Borrower shall repay to the Lender the principal amount of each Revolving Advance or Term Loan then
outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon to the date of payment on the applicable Termination Date for such
Advance.
(ii) [reserved].
(b) [reserved].
SECTION 2.10. Optional Prepayments of Advances.
The Borrower may, upon at least two Business Days’ notice to the Lender, at any time or from time to time voluntarily prepay
Revolving Advances or the Term Loan, in whole or in part without premium or penalty. Each such notice shall specify the date and
amount of such prepayment and the Advances to be prepaid. If such notice is given by the Borrower, the Borrower shall make such
prepayment and the payment amount specified in such notice shall be due and payable on the date specified therein. Any prepayment
of Revolving Advances or the Term Loan shall be accompanied by all accrued interest thereon, together with any additional amounts
required pursuant to Section 3.05.
SECTION 2.11. [reserved].
SECTION 2.12. [reserved].
SECTION 2.13. [reserved].
SECTION 2.14. Payments and Computations.
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(a) General Provisions. The Borrower shall make each payment hereunder and under the Notes, irrespective of any
right of counterclaim or set-off, not later than 10:00 a.m. Calgary time on the day when due in dollars to the Lender’s Account in same
day funds. Upon its acceptance of an Assignment and Acceptance, from and after the effective date specified in such Assignment and
Acceptance, the Borrower shall make all payments hereunder and under the Notes in respect of the interest assigned thereby to the
Lender assignor thereunder for amounts that have accrued to but excluding the effective date of such assignment, and to the Lender
assignee for amounts that have accrued from and after the effective date of such assignment.
(b) Basis of Calculation. All computations of interest and fees shall be made by the Lender on the basis of a year of
360 days, in each case for the actual number of days (including the first day but excluding the last day) occurring in the period for
which such interest or fees are payable. Each determination by the Lender of an interest rate hereunder shall be conclusive and binding
for all purposes, absent manifest error.
(c) Payments Due on Non-Business Days. Whenever any payment hereunder or under the Notes shall be stated to be
due on a day other than a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day, and such extension of time
shall in such case be included in the computation of payment of interest or facility fee, as the case may be; provided, however, that, if
such extension would cause (i) any payment to be made after the Termination Date, or (ii) payment of interest on or principal of
Eurodollar Rate Advances to be made in the next following calendar month, such payment shall be made on the next preceding
Business Day.
(d) [reserved].
(e) [reserved].
(f) [reserved].
SECTION 2.15. Taxes.
(a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower to or for the account of the Lender or
any other Person hereunder or under the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder shall be made, in accordance with
Section 2.14 or the applicable provisions of such other documents, free and clear of and without deduction for any and all present or
future taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding, in the case of the
Lender, or such other Person, (i) taxes imposed on (or measured by) its overall net income, net profits or net worth, and franchise or
similar taxes, by the United States of America or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which the Lender or such other Person (as the
case may be) is organized or is otherwise doing business, or any political subdivision thereof and, in the case of the Lender, taxes
imposed on (or measured by), in whole or in part, its overall net income, net profits or net worth, and franchise or similar taxes, by the
jurisdiction of the Lender’s Lending Office or any political subdivision thereof (including, without limitation, any withholding of taxes
described in this Section 2.15(a)(i) that is treated under applicable law as a prepayment of taxes), (ii) any branch profits taxes imposed
by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction in which such Person is located, (iii) any taxes
imposed as a result
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of such Person’s willful misconduct, (iv) in the case of the Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under
Section 2.18(b)), any U.S. withholding tax that is imposed on amounts payable to such Lender by any law in effect at the time such
Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new Lending Office), except to the extent that such Lender (or its assignor,
if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new Lending Office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the
Borrower with respect to such withholding tax pursuant to this Section 2.15(a), (v) any U.S. federal withholding taxes imposed under
FATCA, (vi) [reserved], (vii) taxes attributable to its failure to comply with Section 2.15(f), (g), (i) or (j) and (viii) any interest,
penalties or additions to tax imposed on any taxes described in Sections 2.15(a)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v) (all such taxes, levies, imposts,
deductions, charges or withholdings and liabilities with respect thereto not excluded under Section 2.15(a)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi),
(vii) or (viii) in respect of payments hereunder or under the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder being hereinafter
referred to as “Taxes”); provided that, if any applicable law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable Withholding
Agent) requires a Withholding Agent to deduct any taxes, levies, imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings, or any liabilities with
respect thereto, from or in respect of any sum payable by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any Note
or any other documents to be delivered hereunder to or for the account of the Lender, (i) the Withholding Agent shall be entitled to
make such deduction and shall timely pay the full amount deducted to the relevant taxation authority or other authority in accordance
with applicable law and (ii) to the extent such deduction is for Taxes or Other Taxes (as hereinafter defined), the sum payable by the
Borrower shall be increased as may be necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to
additional sums payable under this Section 2.15) such Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such
deductions for Taxes or Other Taxes been made.
(b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other excise or
property taxes, charges or similar levies that arise from any payment made hereunder or under the Notes or any other documents to be
delivered hereunder or from the execution, delivery or registration of, performing under, or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement
or the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder, excluding, however, such taxes imposed with respect to an assignment
following the primary syndication (other than an assignment that occurs as a result of the Borrower’s request pursuant to Section 2.18)
that would not have been imposed but for a present or former connection between the Lender and the jurisdiction imposing such taxes
(other than solely on account of the execution, delivery or registration of, performing under, or otherwise with respect to, this
Agreement or the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder) (hereinafter referred to as “Other Taxes”).
(c) The Borrower shall indemnify the Lender for and hold it harmless against the full amount, without duplication, of
Taxes or Other Taxes (including, without limitation, Taxes of any kind imposed or asserted by any jurisdiction on amounts payable
under this Section 2.15) imposed on or paid by Lender and any liability (including penalties and interest) arising therefrom or with
respect thereto. This indemnification shall be made within 30 days from the date the Lender makes written demand therefor and
provides appropriate computational and, to the extent available, documentary support.
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(d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes or Other Taxes pursuant to this Section 2.15, the Borrower shall
furnish to the Lender, at its address referred to in Section 8.02, the original or a certified copy of a receipt evidencing such payment to
the extent that such a receipt is issued therefor, or other written proof of payment thereof that is reasonably satisfactory to the Lender.
(e) [reserved].
(f) If the Lender is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax with respect to payments made
hereunder or under the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder shall deliver to the Borrower, at the time or times
reasonably requested by the Borrower, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower as
will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, the Lender, if reasonably
requested by the Borrower, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the
Borrower as will enable the Borrower to determine whether or not the Lender is subject to backup withholding or information
reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and
submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Sections 2.15(h) and (i) below) shall not be required if
in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material
unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.
(g) [reserved].
(h) If a payment made to the Lender hereunder or under the Notes or any other documents to be delivered hereunder
would be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax imposed by FATCA if the Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable
reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, as
applicable), the Lender shall deliver to the Borrower at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably
requested by the Borrower such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of
the Internal Revenue Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower as may be necessary for the
Borrower to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that the Lender has complied with the Lender’s obligations
under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this paragraph (h),
“FATCA” shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.
(i) The Lender shall deliver at the time(s) and in the manner(s) prescribed by applicable law, to the Borrower two
original properly completed and duly executed United States Internal Revenue Service Forms W-9 or any successor form, certifying
that such Person is exempt from United States backup withholding tax on payments made hereunder.
(j) The Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered pursuant to Section 2.15(f), (h) or (i)
expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it
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shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower in writing of its legal inability to do so.
(k) For the avoidance of doubt, for any period with respect to which the Lender has failed to provide the Borrower
with the appropriate form, certificate or other document described in Section 2.15(i) (other than if such failure is due to a change in law
occurring subsequent to the date on which a form, certificate or other document originally was required to be provided, or if such form,
certificate or other document otherwise is not required under Section 2.15(i)), such Lender shall not be entitled to increased payments
or indemnification under Section 2.15(a) or (c) with respect to taxes or Other Taxes imposed by reason of such failure; provided,
however, that the Borrower shall take such steps as the Lender shall reasonably request (at the sole expense of such Lender) to assist
the Lender to recover such taxes or Other Taxes (it being understood, however, that the Borrower shall have no liability to such
Lender in respect of such taxes or Other Taxes).
(l) If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Taxes or
Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.15 (including by the payment of additional amounts
pursuant to this Section 2.15), it shall pay to the indemnifying party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of
indemnity payments made by such indemnifying party under this Section with respect to the Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such
refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid
by the relevant governmental authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified
party, shall repay to such indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (l) (plus any penalties, interest or other
charges imposed by the relevant governmental authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to
such governmental authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (l), in no event will the indemnified party be
required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph (l) the payment of which would place the indemnified
party in a less favorable net after-tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the Tax or Other Tax subject to
indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification
payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax or Other Tax had never been paid.
(m) [reserved].
(n) For purposes of determining withholding taxes imposed under FATCA, the Borrower shall treat (and the Lender
hereby authorize the Borrower to treat) this Agreement and any Advance as not qualifying as a “grandfathered obligation”
within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1471-2(b)(2)(i).
Nothing contained in this Section 2.15 shall require the Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its
taxes which it deems to be confidential).
SECTION 2.16. [reserved].
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SECTION 2.17. Notes.The Borrower agrees that upon notice by the Lender to the Borrower to the effect that a promissory
note or other evidence of indebtedness is required or appropriate in order for the Lender to evidence (whether for purposes of
pledge, enforcement or otherwise) the Advances owing to, or to be made by, the Lender, the Borrower shall promptly execute and
deliver to the Lender a Note payable to the Lender.
SECTION 2.18. [reserved].
SECTION 2.19. [reserved].
SECTION 2.20. [reserved].
ARTICLE III
CONDITIONS TO EFFECTIVENESS AND LENDING
SECTION 3.01. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Sections 2.01.
Sections 2.01 of this Agreement shall become effective on and as of the first date (the “Effective Date”) on which the following
conditions precedent have been satisfied.
(a) The Lender shall have received on or before the Effective Date the following, each dated such day, in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent:
(i) counterparts hereof signed by each of the parties hereto;
(ii) if requested by the Lender, the Note payable to the Lender;
(iii) if requested by the Lender, an opinion of legal counsel to the Borrower addressed to the Lender;
(iv) certified copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors or similar governing body of the Ultimate General
Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) and the
General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) approving this Agreement and the Notes, and of all
documents evidencing other necessary corporate or other similar action and governmental approvals, if any, with respect to this
Agreement and the Notes;
(v) a certificate signed by the Chief Financial Officer or the Treasurer of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity
as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower), dated the Effective Date, to the
effects set forth in clauses (a) and (b) of Section 3.02;
(vi) if requested by the Lender, a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Ultimate General Partner
(in its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) certifying the names
and true signatures of the officers of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner
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of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) authorized to sign this Agreement and the Notes and
the other documents to be delivered hereunder; and
(vii) all documents the Lender may have reasonably requested prior to the date hereof relating to the existence of the
Borrower, the corporate authority for and the validity of this Agreement and the Notes, and any other matters relevant hereto.
(b) [reserved].
(c) [reserved].
(d) [reserved].
The Lender shall notify the Borrower of the Effective Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.
SECTION 3.02. Conditions Precedent to Each Borrowing.
The obligation of the Lender to make an Advance on the occasion of each Borrowing, shall be subject to the conditions precedent that
the Effective Date shall have occurred or shall occur simultaneously with such Borrowing and on the date of such Borrowing the
following statements shall be true (and each of the giving of the Drawdown Notice and the acceptance by the Borrower of the
proceeds of any such Borrowing, shall constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower that on the date of such Borrowing,
such statements are true):the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.01 (except the representations set forth in Section
4.01(d)(iii), Section 4.01(f) and Section 4.01(g) (provided that, in the case of Section 4.01(g), the exception shall apply solely with
respect to Environmental Laws), each of which shall be made only on and as of the Effective Date) are correct on and as of the
Effective Date and are correct in all material respects (except for those representations and warranties qualified by “materiality,”
“Material Adverse Effect” or a like qualification, which shall be correct in all respects) on the date of such Borrowing, before and after
giving effect to such Borrowing and the application of the proceeds thereof, as though made on and as of such date (except for those
representations and warranties that specifically relate to a prior date, which shall have been correct on such prior date); and
(a) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from such Borrowing or from the application of the
proceeds therefrom, that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
SECTION 4.01. Representations and Warranties.
The Borrower represents and warrants that:
(a) Organization and Power. The Borrower is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
Delaware and has all requisite powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry
on its business as
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now conducted and is duly qualified to do business in each jurisdiction where such qualification is required, except where the failure so
to qualify would not have a Material Adverse Effect.
(b) Company and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by the
Borrower of this Agreement and the Notes are within the Borrower’s limited partnership powers, have been duly authorized by all
necessary limited partnership action, and do not (i) require any action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body,
agency or official, (ii) contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of the certificate of
limited partnership or agreement of limited partnership of the Borrower, (iii) contravene, or constitute a default under, any agreement,
judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon the Borrower, except to the extent such contravention or default
could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (iv) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset
of the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, other than any Lien that is required by this Agreement.
(c) Binding Effect. This Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Borrower and each Note, if
and when executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement, will constitute a legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Borrower, in each case enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or
similar laws affecting creditors rights generally and by general principles of equity.
(d) Financial Information.
(i) The consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows and partners’ capital for the fiscal year then
ended, reported on by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, fairly present, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, the consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of such date and their
consolidated results of operations and cash flows for such fiscal year.
(ii) The unaudited consolidated balance sheets of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2018
and June 30, 2018, and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows and
partners’ capital for the three and six months then ended, respectively, fairly present, in conformity with GAAP, the
consolidated financial position of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of such dates and their consolidated results
of operations and changes in financial position for such three-month and six-month period, subject to normal year-end
adjustments and the absence of footnotes.
(iii) There has been no Material Adverse Change since December 31, 2017.
(e) Regulation U. The Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries are not engaged in the business of extending credit
for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U issued by the Board of Governors of the
Federal Reserve System), and no proceeds of any Borrowing or any Letter of Credit will be used, whether directly
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or indirectly, to purchase or carry any margin stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any margin
stock in any such case that would cause a violation of such Regulation U. Not more than 25% of the value of the assets of the
Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries is represented by margin stock.
(f) Litigation. Except as disclosed in the Borrower’s annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2017, and the Borrower’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018, there is
no action, suit or proceeding (including, without limitation, any Environmental Action) pending against, or to the knowledge of the
Borrower threatened against or affecting, the Borrower or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any
governmental body, agency or official that would be likely to be decided adversely to the Borrower or such Subsidiary and, as a result,
have a Material Adverse Effect.
(g) Compliance with Laws. The Borrower and each Restricted Subsidiary is in compliance in all material respects with
all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and requirements of governmental authorities (including, without limitation, ERISA
and Environmental Laws) except where (i) non-compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) the necessity of
compliance therewith is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.
(h) Taxes. The Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries have filed all United States Federal income tax returns and all
other material tax returns that are required to be filed by them and have paid all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any
assessment received by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary except (i) where nonpayment or failure to file would not have a
Material Adverse Effect or (ii) where the same are contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings. The charges, accruals and
reserves on the books of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the
opinions of the Borrower, adequate.
(i) Investment Company Status. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is an “investment company” as
defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
(j) [reserved].
(k) Unrestricted Subsidiaries. As of the Effective Date, there are no Unrestricted Subsidiaries.
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ARTICLE V
COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER
SECTION 5.01. Information.
The Borrower will deliver to the Agent:
(a) as soon as available and in any event within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a
consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such fiscal year and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, cash flows and partners’ capital for such fiscal year, setting forth in each
case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on in a manner consistent with the requirements of the
Securities and Exchange Commission by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or other independent public accountants of nationally
recognized standing;
(b) as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each of the first three quarters of each fiscal
year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2018, a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower
and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such quarter and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, cash flows and partners’ capital for such quarter and for the portion of the Borrower’s fiscal year ended at the end of such
quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding quarter and the corresponding portion of the
Borrower’s previous fiscal year, all certified (subject to normal year-end adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, application of
GAAP and consistency by an Approved Officer;
(c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a
certificate of an Approved Officer (i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to establish whether the Borrower was
in compliance with the requirements of Section 5.11(a) on the date of such financial statements and (ii) stating whether any Default or
Event of Default exists on the date of such certificate and, if any Default or Event of Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof
and the action that the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
(d) within five days after any officer of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General
Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) with responsibility relating thereto obtains knowledge of any Default or
Event of Default, if such Default or Event of Default is then continuing, a certificate of an Approved Officer setting forth the details
thereof and the action that the Borrower is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
(e) promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any
registration statements on Form S-8 or its equivalent) and reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K (or their equivalents) that the
Borrower shall have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;
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(f) if and when any member of the ERISA Group (i) gives or is required to give notice to the PBGC of any
“reportable event” (as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Material Plan that might constitute grounds for a
termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or has knowledge that the plan administrator of any Material Plan has given or is
required to give notice of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given to the
PBGC; (ii) receives notice of complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA or notice that any Material Plan is in
reorganization or “critical status” (within the meaning of Section 305 of ERISA), is insolvent or has been terminated, a copy of such
notice; (iii) receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate, impose material liability (other than for
premiums under Section 4007 of ERISA) in respect of, or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan, a copy of such notice; (iv) applies
for a waiver of the minimum funding standard under Section 430 of the Internal Revenue Code, a copy of such application; (v) gives
notice of intent to terminate any Material Plan under Section 4041(c) of ERISA, a copy of such notice and other information filed with
the PBGC; (vi) gives notice of withdrawal from any Material Plan pursuant to Section 4063 of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or (vii)
fails to make any payment or contribution to any Material Plan or makes any amendment to any Material Plan that, in each case, has
resulted or could result in the imposition of a Lien or the posting of a bond or other security, a certificate of the chief financial officer or
the chief accounting officer of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as
general partner of the Borrower) setting forth details as to such occurrence and action, if any, which the Borrower or applicable
member of the ERISA Group is required or proposes to take; and
(g) from time to time such additional information regarding the financial position or business of the Borrower and its
consolidated Subsidiaries (including, if requested, information as to the Borrower and the Consolidated Subsidiaries on a stand-alone
basis) as the Lender, may reasonably request.
Information required to be delivered pursuant to Sections 5.01(a), 5.01(b) and 5.01(e) shall be deemed to have been delivered when
such information is posted by the Borrower on the Securities and Exchange Commission website on the Internet at
sec.gov/edaux/searches.htm.
SECTION 5.02. Payment of Taxes.
The Borrower will pay and discharge, and the Borrower will cause each Restricted Subsidiary to pay and discharge, at or before
maturity, all their tax liabilities, except where (i) nonpayment or failure to file would not have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) the same
may be contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, and the Borrower will maintain, and the Borrower will cause each
Restricted Subsidiary to maintain, in accordance with GAAP, appropriate reserves for the accrual of any of the same.
SECTION 5.03. Maintenance of Property; Insurance.
(a) The Borrower will keep, and the Borrower will cause each Material Restricted Subsidiary to keep, all property
useful and necessary in its business in good working
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order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect.
(b) The Borrower will, and the Borrower will cause each of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries to, maintain (either in
the name of the Borrower or in such Subsidiary’s own name) with financially sound and responsible insurance companies, insurance
on all their respective properties in at least such amounts and against at least such risks (and with such risk retention) as are usually
insured against by companies of established repute engaged in the same or a similar business; provided that self-insurance by the
Borrower or any such Material Restricted Subsidiary shall not be deemed a violation of this covenant to the extent that such selfinsurance is consistent with reasonable and prudent business practice; and will furnish to the Lenders, upon request from the Agent,
information presented in reasonable detail as to the insurance so carried.
SECTION 5.04. Maintenance of Existence.
The Borrower will preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect, and the Borrower will cause each Material Restricted Subsidiary
to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect their respective corporate or other legal existence and their respective rights,
privileges and franchises material to the normal conduct of their respective businesses; provided that nothing in this Section 5.04 shall
prohibit (i) any transaction permitted by Section 5.08 or (ii) the termination of any right, privilege or franchise of the Borrower or any
Material Restricted Subsidiary or of the corporate or other legal existence of any Material Restricted Subsidiary or the change in form
of organization of the Borrower or any Material Restricted Subsidiary if the Borrower in good faith determines that such termination or
change is in the best interest of the Borrower, is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders and, in the case of a change in the form
of organization of the Borrower, the Agent has consented thereto (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
SECTION 5.05. Compliance with Laws.
The Borrower will comply, and the Borrower will cause each Restricted Subsidiary to comply, in all material respects with all
applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, and requirements of governmental authorities (including, without limitation, ERISA and
Environmental Laws) except where (i) noncompliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) the necessity of compliance
therewith is contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.
SECTION 5.06. Books and Records.
The Borrower will keep, and the Borrower will cause each Material Restricted Subsidiary to keep, proper books of record and account
in which full, true and correct entries shall be made of all financial transactions in relation to its business and activities in accordance
with its customary practices; and the Borrower will permit, and the Borrower will cause each Material Restricted Subsidiary to permit,
representatives of the Lender at the Lender’s expense (accompanied by a representative of the Borrower, if the Borrower so desires) to
visit any of their respective properties, to examine any of their respective books and records and to discuss their respective affairs,
finances and accounts with their respective officers, employees and independent public accountants, all upon such reasonable notice, at
such reasonable times and as often as may reasonably be desired provided
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that such visits shall not occur more than one time per year unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
SECTION 5.07. Negative Pledge.
The Borrower will not, and the Borrower will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, create, assume or suffer to exist any Lien to
secure Indebtedness (for the avoidance of doubt, to the extent such Liens secure Indebtedness) on any asset now owned or hereafter
acquired by it, except:
(a) Liens existing on the date of this Agreement granted by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary and securing
Indebtedness or other obligations outstanding on the date of this Agreement;
(b) any Lien on any asset of any Person existing at the time such Person is merged or consolidated with or into the
Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;
(c) any Lien existing on any asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary and not
created in contemplation of such acquisition;
(d) any Lien on any asset securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing all or any part of the
cost of acquiring such asset; provided that such Lien attaches to such asset concurrently with or within 365 days after the acquisition
thereof;
(e) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness or other obligations
secured by any Lien otherwise permitted by any of the foregoing clauses of this Section 5.07; provided that the principal amount of
such Indebtedness or the amount of such other obligation, as applicable, is not increased and is not secured by any additional assets;
(f) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges or levies not yet due or which are being contested in
good faith by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which adequate reserves or other appropriate provisions are being
maintained in accordance with GAAP;
(g) statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen and other Liens
imposed by law, created in the ordinary course of business and for amounts not past due for more than 60 days or which are being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings that are sufficient to prevent imminent foreclosure of such Liens, are promptly
instituted and diligently conducted and with respect to which adequate reserves or other appropriate provisions are being maintained in
accordance with GAAP;
(h) Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business (including, without limitation, surety bonds and
appeal bonds) in connection with workers compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security benefits or to
secure the performance of tenders, bids, leases, contracts (other than for the repayment of Indebtedness), statutory
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obligations and other similar obligations or arising as a result of progress payments under government contracts;
(i) [reserved];
(j) Liens with respect to judgments and attachments that do not result in an Event of Default;
(k) Liens, deposits or pledges to secure the performance of bids, tenders, contracts (other than contracts for the
payment of money), leases (permitted under the terms of this Agreement), public or statutory obligations, surety, stay, appeal,
indemnity, performance or other obligations arising in the ordinary course of business;
(l) [reserved];
(m) Liens required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement;
(n) [reserved];
(o) Liens on and pledges of the Equity Securities of any joint venture owned by the Borrower or any Restricted
Subsidiary (other than any such joint venture that is a Consolidated Subsidiary) to the extent securing Indebtedness of such joint
venture that is non-recourse to the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary;
(p) bankers’ Liens, rights of setoff and other similar Liens existing solely with respect to cash and cash equivalents on
deposit in one or more accounts maintained by the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary, in each case granted in the ordinary course
of business in favor of the bank or banks with which such accounts are maintained, securing amounts owing to such bank with respect
to cash management and operating account arrangements, including those involving pooled accounts and netting arrangements;
(q) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business to secure liability for premiums to insurance carriers or to
maintain self-insurance;
(r) Liens in favor of the Borrower or any of its wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiaries;
(s) [reserved];
(t) any letter of credit issued for the account of the Borrower or any of its Affiliates to secure Indebtedness under tax
free financings; and
(u) Liens not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses of this Section 5.07 securing obligations in an aggregate
principal or face amount at any date not to exceed 15% of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets; provided, for the purposes of this Section
5.07(u), with respect to any such secured Indebtedness of a non-wholly owned Subsidiary of the Borrower with no recourse to the
Borrower or any wholly-owned Subsidiary thereof, only that portion of such
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Indebtedness reflecting the Borrower’s pro rata ownership interest therein shall be included in calculating compliance herewith.
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SECTION 5.08. Consolidations, Mergers and Dispositions of Assets.
(a) The Borrower will not (i) consolidate or merge with or into any other Person or (ii) sell, lease or otherwise transfer,
directly or indirectly, all or substantially all of its assets to any Person; provided that the Borrower may merge with another Person if
the Borrower is the entity surviving such merger and, after giving effect thereto, no Event of Default or Default shall have occurred
and be continuing.
(b) The Borrower will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to consolidate or merge with any other Person
(except with the Borrower or another Restricted Subsidiary, but subject to the provisions of Section 5.08(a)) or sell all or substantially
all of their respective assets (except to the Borrower or another Restricted Subsidiary) if, after giving effect thereto, (i) any Event of
Default or Default shall have occurred and be continuing or (ii) such consolidation, merger or sale of assets, taken as a whole together
with all other consolidations, mergers and sales of assets by the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries since the Effective Date, shall
result in the disposition by the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries of assets in an amount that would constitute all or substantially
all of the consolidated assets of the Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP, as of the most recently completed fiscal quarter.
SECTION 5.09. Use of Proceeds.
The proceeds of the Advances made under this Agreement will be used by the Borrower for its and its Subsidiaries’ general company
purposes. None of such proceeds will be used, directly or indirectly, for the purpose, whether immediate, incidental or ultimate, of
buying or carrying any “margin stock” within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
SECTION 5.10. [reserved].
SECTION 5.11. Consolidated Leverage Ratio.
(a) The Consolidated Leverage Ratio, as at the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (beginning with the fiscal
quarter ended September 30, 2013), shall be less than or equal to 5.00 to 1.0; provided that subsequent to the consummation of a
Qualified Acquisition, the Consolidated Leverage Ratio, as at the end of the three consecutive fiscal quarters following such Qualified
Acquisition, shall be less than or equal to 5.50 to 1.0.
(b) For purposes of calculating compliance with the financial covenant set forth in Section 5.11(a):
(i) with respect to all Permitted Acquisitions on or subsequent to the Effective Date, Consolidated EBITDA with
respect to such newly acquired assets shall be calculated on a pro forma basis as if such acquisition had occurred at the
beginning of the applicable
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twelve-month period of determination; provided, that with respect to all Permitted Acquisitions with limited or no prior
operating history (or with a prior operating history that does not reliably indicate future operating results), Consolidated
EBITDA shall be deemed to be the amount approved by the Lender as the projected Consolidated EBITDA of the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries attributable to such Permitted Acquisition for the first twelve-month period following such Permitted
Acquisition (such amount to be determined based on customer contracts relating to such Permitted Acquisition, the
creditworthiness of the other parties to such contracts, and projected revenues from such contracts, capital costs and expenses,
oil and gas reserve and production estimates, commodity price assumptions and other reasonable factors deemed appropriate by
the Lender); and
(ii) Consolidated EBITDA may include, at the Borrower’s option, any Qualified Project EBITDA Adjustments as
provided in the definition thereof.
SECTION 5.12. Designation of Subsidiaries.
The Board of Directors or similar governing body of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General
Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) may at any time designate any Restricted Subsidiary as an Unrestricted
Subsidiary or any Unrestricted Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary; provided that (i) immediately before and after such designation,
no Event of Default or Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (ii) immediately after giving effect to such designation, the
Borrower and its Restricted Subsidiaries shall be in compliance, on a pro forma basis, with Section 5.11(a) (as though the effective date
of such designation were the last day of a fiscal quarter of the Borrower) and, as a condition precedent to the effectiveness of such
designation, the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent a certificate of the Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer or Controller of the Ultimate
General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of the Borrower) setting forth
in reasonable detail the calculations demonstrating such compliance), (iii) no Restricted Subsidiary may be designated as an
Unrestricted Subsidiary if it was previously designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary, (iv) no Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary
may be designated as a Restricted Subsidiary, (v) no Subsidiary that owns any Equity Securities or Indebtedness of, or owns or holds
any Lien on, any property of the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary (other than any Subsidiary of the Subsidiary to be so
designated), may be designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary, (vi) each Subsidiary to be so designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary, and
its Subsidiaries, has not at the time of designation, and does not thereafter, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become
directly or indirectly liable with respect to any Indebtedness pursuant to which the lender or other creditor has recourse to any assets of
the Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary other than the Equity Securities in such Unrestricted Subsidiary and its Subsidiaries, and
(vii) no primary operating Subsidiary of the Borrower may be designated as an Unrestricted Subsidiary. The designation of any
Unrestricted Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary shall constitute the incurrence at the time of designation of any Indebtedness or
Liens of such Subsidiary existing at such time. If, at any time, any Unrestricted Subsidiary fails to meet the preceding requirements as
an Unrestricted Subsidiary, it will thereafter automatically cease to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary and shall constitute a Restricted
Subsidiary for all purposes of this Agreement, and (among other things)
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any Indebtedness and Liens of such Subsidiary will be deemed to be incurred by a Restricted Subsidiary of the Borrower as of such
date.
SECTION 5.13. [reserved].
ARTICLE VI
EVENTS OF DEFAULT
SECTION 6.01. Events of Default.
If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) shall occur and be continuing:
(a) (i) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Advance when the same becomes due and payable, or (ii) the
Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Advance or make any other payment of fees or other amounts payable under this
Agreement or any Note within five Business Days after the same becomes due and payable; or
(b) any representation or warranty made by the Borrower herein or by the Borrower (or any of its officers or any of
the officers of the Ultimate General Partner (in its capacity as general partner of the General Partner, in its capacity as general partner of
the Borrower)) in connection with this Agreement shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made; or
(c) (i) the Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreement contained in Section 5.01(d),
5.04, 5.07, 5.08, 5.11(a) or the third sentence of Section 5.09, (ii) the Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any term, covenant or
agreement contained in Section 5.13 on its part to be performed or observed if such failure shall remain unremedied for 5 days after
written notice thereof shall have been given to the Borrower by the Lender or (iii) the Borrower shall fail to perform or observe any
other term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement on its part to be performed or observed if such failure shall remain
unremedied for 30 days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Borrower by the Agent at the request of the Lender; or
(d) (i) the Borrower or any of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries shall fail to pay any principal of or premium or
interest on any Indebtedness that is outstanding in a principal or notional amount of at least $175,000,000 in the aggregate (but
excluding Indebtedness outstanding hereunder) of the Borrower or such Material Restricted Subsidiary (as the case may be), when the
same becomes due and payable (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, demand or otherwise), and such
failure shall continue after the applicable grace period, if any, specified in the agreement or instrument relating to such Indebtedness; or
(ii) any such Indebtedness shall be declared to be due and payable, or required to be prepaid or redeemed (other than by a regularly
scheduled required prepayment or redemption), purchased or defeased, or an offer to prepay, redeem, purchase or defease such
Indebtedness shall be required to be made, in each case prior to the stated maturity thereof; or
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(e) the Borrower or any of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries shall generally not pay its debts as such debts become
due, or shall admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; or
any proceeding shall be instituted by or against the Borrower or any of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries seeking to adjudicate it a
bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking liquidation, winding up, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, protection, relief, or composition of
it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors, or seeking the entry of an order for
relief or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for it or for any substantial part of its property and, in
the case of any such proceeding instituted against it (but not instituted by it), either such proceeding shall remain undismissed or
unstayed for a period of 90 days, or any of the actions sought in such proceeding (including, without limitation, the entry of an order
for relief against, or the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or other similar official for, it or for any substantial part of its
property) shall occur; or the Borrower or any of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries shall take any corporate or other equivalent action
to authorize any of the actions set forth above in this subsection (e); or
(f) judgments or orders for the payment of money in excess of $175,000,000 in the aggregate shall be rendered against
the Borrower or any of its Material Restricted Subsidiaries and either (i) enforcement proceedings shall have been commenced by any
creditor upon such judgment or order or (ii) there shall be any period of 45 consecutive days during which a stay of enforcement of
such judgment or order, by reason of a pending appeal or otherwise, shall not be in effect; or
(g) [reserved]; or
(h) any member of the ERISA Group shall fail to pay when due an amount or amounts aggregating in excess of
$25,000,000 which it shall have become liable to pay to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to
terminate a Plan or Plans having aggregate Unfunded Vested Liabilities in excess of $50,000,000 (collectively, a “ Material Plan”) shall
be filed under Title IV of ERISA by any member of the ERISA Group, any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing; or
the PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title IV of ERISA to terminate or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any
Material Plan or a proceeding shall be instituted by a fiduciary of any Material Plan against any member of the ERISA Group to
enforce Section 515 or 4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed within 90 days thereafter; or a
condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any Material Plan must be
terminated;
then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in Section 6.01(e)), and at any time thereafter
during the continuance of such event, the Lender may, by notice to the Borrower, take any or all of the following actions, at the same
or different times: (i) terminate the Commitment, and thereupon the Commitment shall terminate immediately, (ii) exercise their rights
and remedies under Section 2.03(h)(i), and (iii) declare the Revolving Advances then outstanding to be due and payable in whole (or
in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable may thereafter be declared to be due and payable so long as,
at the time of such later declaration, an Event of Default is continuing), and thereupon the principal of the
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Revolving Advances so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the
Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any
kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in Section
6.01(e), all of the Commitment shall automatically terminate and the principal of all of the Advances then outstanding, together with
accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and
payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.
SECTION 6.02. [reserved].
ARTICLE VII
[RESERVED]
ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS
SECTION 8.01. Amendments, Etc.
(a) No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or the Note shall in any event be effective unless the
same shall be in writing and signed by the Lender, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and
for the specific purpose for which given.
(b) [reserved].
SECTION 8.02. Notices, Etc.
(a)
All notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing (including telecopier or
telegraphic communication) and mailed, telecopied, telegraphed or delivered, if to the Borrower, at the address, telecopier number,
electronic mail address or telephone number specified for such Person on Schedule 1.01; and if to the Lender, at the address, telecopier
number, electronic mail address or telephone number specified for such Person on Schedule 1.01. Notices sent by hand or overnight
courier service, or mailed by certified or registered mail, shall be deemed to have been given when received; notices sent by facsimile
shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the recipient, shall be deemed
to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient). Notices delivered through electronic
communications, to the extent provided in paragraph (b) below, shall be effective as provided in said paragraph (b). Delivery by
telecopier or other electronic communication of an executed counterpart of any amendment or waiver of any provision of this
Agreement or the Notes or of any Exhibit hereto to be executed and delivered hereunder shall be effective as delivery of a manually
executed counterpart thereof.
(b) The Lender or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it
hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures
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approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications. Unless the Lender
otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt
of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return e-mail or
their written acknowledgment), provided that if such notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the
recipient, such notice or communication shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the
recipient, and (ii) notices or communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed
receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.
SECTION 8.03. No Waiver: Remedies.
No failure on the part of the Lender or to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder or under any Note shall operate as a
waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of
any other right. The remedies herein provided are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law.
SECTION 8.04. Costs and Expenses.
(a) The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all reasonable and invoiced out-of-pocket fees, charges and expenses of
counsel for the Lender, and of a single local counsel to the Lender in each appropriate jurisdiction (which may include a single special
counsel acting in multiple jurisdictions) and of such other counsel retained by the Lender with the Borrower’s prior written consent
(such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and of such other counsel retained by the Lender in connection with
enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of this Agreement, the Notes and the other documents to
be delivered hereunder, including, without limitation, in connection with the enforcement of rights under this Section 8.04(a).
(b) The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Lender and each of their respective Affiliates and their
respective officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors (each, an “Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all losses,
claims, damages and liabilities incurred by or asserted or awarded against any Indemnified Party, in each case arising out of or in
connection with or by reason of (including, without limitation, in connection with any investigation, litigation or proceeding or
preparation of a defense in connection therewith) the Notes, this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated herein or the actual
or proposed use of the proceeds of the Advances, IN ALL CASES, WHETHER OR NOT CAUSED BY OR ARISING, IN
WHOLE OR IN PART, OUT OF THE COMPARATIVE, CONTRIBUTORY OR SOLE NEGLIGENCE OF THE
INDEMNIFIED PARTY , regardless of whether any Indemnified Party is a party thereto, and to reimburse each Indemnified Party
upon demand for any reasonable and documented legal expenses of one firm of counsel for all such Indemnified Parties, taken as a
whole and, if necessary, of a single local counsel in each appropriate jurisdiction (which may include a single special counsel acting in
multiple jurisdictions) for all such Indemnified Parties, taken as a whole (and, in the case of an actual or perceived conflict of interest
where the Indemnified Party affected by such conflict informs the Borrower of such conflict and thereafter retains its own counsel,
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of another firm of counsel for such affected Indemnified Party) and other expenses incurred in connection with investigating or
defending any of the foregoing, provided that the foregoing indemnity will not, as to any Indemnified Party, apply to losses, claims,
damages, liabilities or related legal or other expenses to the extent (i) they are found by a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of
competent jurisdiction to arise from the willful misconduct or gross negligence of such Indemnified Party, (ii) they arise out of or in
connection with any claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding that does not involve an act or omission by the Borrower or any of its
Affiliates and that is brought by an Indemnified Party against any other Indemnified Party or (iii) they consist of any taxes, which shall
be governed by Section 2.15. The parties hereto agree not to assert, and hereby waive on behalf of their respective Affiliates, the
holders of their Equity Securities and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and advisors, any claim for special, indirect,
consequential or punitive damages against any party hereto (including, without limitation, the Borrower or the Lender), any of their
respective Affiliates or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys and agents, on any theory of liability arising out
of or otherwise relating to the Notes, this Agreement, any of the transactions contemplated herein or the actual or proposed use of the
proceeds of the Advances; provided that nothing contained in this sentence shall limit the Borrower’s indemnity and reimbursement
obligations to the extent set forth in the immediately preceding sentence.
(c)
Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrower hereunder, the agreements and
obligations of the Borrower contained in Sections 2.14, 2.15 and 8.04 shall survive the payment in full of principal, interest and all
other amounts payable hereunder and under the Notes.
SECTION 8.05. Right of Set-off.
Upon (i) the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default and (ii) the declaration by the Lender that the Revolving
Advances are due and payable pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.01, the Lender is hereby authorized at any time and from time to
time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or
final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by the Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower
against any and all of the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement. The Lender agrees promptly to
notify the Borrower after any such set-off and application, provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of
such set-off and application. The rights of the Lender under this Section 8.05 are in addition to other rights and remedies (including,
without limitation, other rights of set-off) that the Lender may have.
SECTION 8.06. Binding Effect.
This Agreement shall become effective (other than Section 2.01, which shall only become effective upon satisfaction of the conditions
precedent set forth in Section 3.01) when it shall have been executed by the Lender and when the Lender shall have received
counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that the Borrower shall not have
the right to assign its rights hereunder or any interest herein without
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the prior written consent of the Lender (and any attempted assignment by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void).
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SECTION 8.07. Assignments.
(a) (i) Subject to the conditions set forth in paragraph (a)(ii) below, the Lender may assign to one or more Persons
(other than an Ineligible Assignee) all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation, all
or a portion of its Commitment, the Advances owing to it and any Note or Notes held by it) with the prior written consent (such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld) of:
(A) the Borrower; provided that, the Borrower shall be deemed to have consented to an assignment unless it
shall have objected thereto by written notice to the Lender within five Business Days after having received notice thereof;
provided further that no consent of the Borrower shall be required (1) for an assignment to the Lender or an Affiliate of the
Lender or (2) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, for an assignment to any other assignee;
(B) [reserved];
(C) [reserved].
(i) Assignments shall be subject to the following additional conditions:
(A) except in the case of an assignment to an Affiliate of the Lender or an assignment of the entire remaining
amount of the assigning Lender’s Commitment or Advances, the amount of the Commitment or Advances of the Lender
subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Acceptance with respect to such assignment is
delivered to the Lender) shall not be less than $10,000,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000,000 in excess thereof unless the
Borrower and the Lender otherwise consent, provided that no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing;
(B) [reserved];
(C) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Lender an Assignment and Acceptance,
together with any Note;
(D) [reserved].
(ii) [reserved].
(b) By executing and delivering an Assignment and Acceptance, the Lender assignor thereunder and the assignee
thereunder confirm to and agree with each other and the other parties hereto as follows: (i) other than as provided in such Assignment
and Acceptance, such assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with respect to any
statements, warranties or representations made in or in connection with this Agreement or the execution, legality, validity,
enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of this Agreement
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or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto; (ii) such assigning Lender makes no representation or warranty and
assumes no responsibility with respect to the financial condition of the Borrower or the performance or observance by the Borrower of
any of its obligations under this Agreement or any other instrument or document furnished pursuant hereto; (iii) such assignee confirms
that it has received a copy of this Agreement, together with copies of the financial statements referred to in Section 4.01 and such other
documents and information as it has deemed appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into such Assignment
and Acceptance; (iv) such assignee will, independently and without reliance upon the assigning Lender and based on such documents
and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under
this Agreement; and (vi) such assignee agrees that it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations that by the terms
of this Agreement are required to be performed by it as the Lender.
(c) [reserved].
(d) [reserved].
(e) [reserved].
(f) [reserved].
(g) [reserved].
SECTION 8.08. Governing Law.
This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of Texas, without reference to its conflict of laws
rules or principles. Each Party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts of Texas seated in Harris
County for the interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement, and unconditionally waives any defense of an inconvenient forum to
the maintenance of any action or proceeding in any such court, any objection to venue with respect to any such action or proceeding
and any right of jurisdiction on account of the place of residence or domicile of either Party. A final judgment on any such dispute, as
to which all appeals, if any, have been exhausted, shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions in any manner
provided by law.
SECTION 8.09. Execution in Counterparts; Integration.
This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which
when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by telecopier or other electronic means shall be effective as
delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement. This Agreement and the Notes constitute the entire agreement and
understanding among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all prior agreements and
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.
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SECTION 8.10. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.
EACH OF THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY
IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE)
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE NOTES OR THE ACTIONS OF THE LENDER IN
THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT THEREOF.
SECTION 8.11. Patriot Act.
The Lender hereby notifies the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other information that
will allow such Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act.
SECTION 8.12. Headings.
Article, Section and other headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this
Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.
SECTION 8.13. Confidentiality.
(a) The Lender agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information
may be disclosed (i) to its and its Affiliates’ directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other
advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such
Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential and informed on a need-to-know basis), (ii) to the extent requested by
any governmental authority or self-regulatory body, (iii) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations, (iv) to the extent
required by any subpoena or similar legal process provided that, in such case and in the case of each of clauses (ii) and (iii) above, the
Lender shall use reasonable efforts, consistent with its normal practices, to notify the Borrower promptly thereof prior to disclosure of
such Information, to the extent it is not prohibited from doing so by any law or regulation or by such subpoena or legal process, (v) to
any other party to this Agreement, (vi) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding
relating to this Agreement or the enforcement of rights hereunder, (vii) subject to an agreement containing provisions substantially the
same as those of this Section 8.13, to (A) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its
rights or obligations under this Agreement (it being understood that such actual or prospective assignee or Participant will be informed
of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential and informed on a need-to-know
basis) or (B) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and
its obligations (it being understood that such actual or prospective counterparty will
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be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential and informed on a
need-to-know basis), (viii) with the consent of the Borrower or (ix) to the extent such Information (A) becomes publicly available other
than as a result of a breach of this Section 8.13 or (B) becomes available to the Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other
than the Borrower unless the Lender shall have actual knowledge that such source was required to keep such Information confidential.
For the purposes of this Section 8.13, “Information” means all information received from the Borrower relating to the Borrower or its
business, other than any such information that is available to the Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower;
provided that, in the case of information received from the Borrower after the Effective Date, such information is either clearly
identified at the time of delivery as confidential or should, because of its nature, reasonably be understood to be confidential. Any
Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section 8.13 shall be considered to have complied
with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as
such Person would accord to its own confidential information.
(b) The Lender acknowledges that Information furnished to it pursuant to this Agreement may include material nonpublic information concerning the Borrower and its Affiliates or their respective securities, and confirms that it has developed
compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and that it will handle such material non-public
information in accordance with those procedures and applicable law, including Federal and state securities laws.
(c) [reserved].
SECTION 8.14. Conversion of Currencies.
(a) If, for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any court, it is necessary to convert a sum owing hereunder in one
currency into another currency, each party hereto agrees, to the fullest extent that it may effectively do so, that the rate of exchange
used shall be that at which in accordance with normal banking procedures in the relevant jurisdiction the first currency could be
purchased with such other currency on the Business Day immediately preceding the day on which final judgment is given.
(b) The obligations of the Borrower in respect of any sum due to any party hereto or any holder of the obligations
owing hereunder (the “Applicable Creditor”) shall, notwithstanding any judgment in a currency (the “Judgment Currency”) other than
the currency in which such sum is stated to be due hereunder (the “Agreement Currency”), be discharged only to the extent that, on the
Business Day following receipt by the Applicable Creditor of any sum adjudged to be so due in the Judgment Currency, the
Applicable Creditor may in accordance with normal banking procedures in the relevant jurisdiction purchase the Agreement Currency
with the Judgment Currency; if the amount of the Agreement Currency so purchased is less than the sum originally due to the
Applicable Creditor in the Agreement Currency, the Borrower agrees, as a separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment,
to indemnify the Applicable Creditor against such loss. The obligations of the Borrower contained in this Section 8.14 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement and the payment of all other amounts owing hereunder.

43

44

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto
duly authorized, as of the date first above written.
SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP, as Borrower
By:

Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP,
its general partner
By:

Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC,
its general partner

By: _/s/ Wanda M. Opheim
Name: Wanda M. Opheim
Title: Treasurer
[ Signature Page to Credit Agreement]

ENBRIDGE (U.S.) INC. as the Lender

By: /s/ Maximillian G. Chan
Name: Maximillian G. Chan
Title: Assistant Treasurer

[ Signature Page to Credit Agreement]

SCHEDULE 1.01
ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES
BORROWER
Spectra Energy Partners, L.P.
5400 Westheimer Court
Houston, TX 77056-5310
Attention: Legal Counsel
Facsimile: (713) 989-1717
With a copy to:
Spectra Energy Partners, L.P. C/O Enbridge Inc.
200, 425-lst SW
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
Attention: Max Chan, Assistant Treasurer
Telephone: +1 (403) 767-3606
Facsimile: (403) 231-4848
Electronic Mail: max.chan@enbridge.com
LENDER
Enbridge (U.S.) Inc.
5400 Westheimer Court
Houston, TX 77056-5310
Attention: Legal Counsel
Facsimile: (713) 989-1717

With a copy to:
Enbridge (U.S.) Inc. C/O Enbridge Inc.
200, 425-lst SW
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
Attention: Jacqueline Eliason, Director, Cash Management and Banking
Telephone: (403)-266-8307
Facsimile: (403) 231-4848
Electronic Mail: jackie.eliason@enbridge.com

SCHEDULE 2.01
COMMITMENT
LENDER

Enbridge (U.S.) Inc.

COMMITMENT

$750,000,000

EXHIBIT A – FORM OF
PROMISSORY NOTE
PROMISSORY NOTE
$_________________________

Dated:________________, 201___

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP, a Delaware limited partnership
(the “Borrower”), HEREBY PROMISES TO PAY to [_____________] or its registered assignees (the “Lender”) for the account of
its Lending Office on the Termination Date (each as defined in the Credit Agreement referred to below) the principal sum of $[amount
of the Lender’s Revolving Commitment in figures] or, if less, the aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Advances made by
the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September ●, 2018, between the
Borrower and the Lender (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the
“Credit Agreement”; the terms defined therein being used herein as therein defined), outstanding on the Termination Date.
The Borrower promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each Revolving Advance from the date of
such Revolving Advance until such principal amount is paid in full, at such interest rates, and payable at such times, as are specified in
the Credit Agreement.
Both principal and interest are payable in lawful money of the United States of America to the Lender, in same day
funds. Each Revolving Advance owing to the Lender by the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement, and all payments made on
account of principal thereof, shall be recorded by the Lender and, prior to any transfer hereof, endorsed on the grid attached hereto that
is part of this Promissory Note; provided that the failure to make a notation of any such Revolving Advance or payment made on this
Promissory Note shall not limit or otherwise affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunder with respect to payments of principal of
or interest on this Promissory Note.
This Promissory Note is entitled to the benefits of, the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement, among other things,
(i) provides for the making of Revolving Advances by the Lender to the Borrower from time to time in an aggregate amount not to
exceed at any time outstanding the dollar amount first above mentioned, the indebtedness of the Borrower resulting from each such
Revolving Advance by the Lender being evidenced by this Promissory Note, and (ii) contains provisions for acceleration of the
maturity hereof upon the happening of certain stated events and also for prepayments on account of principal hereof prior to the
maturity hereof upon the terms and conditions therein specified.
This Promissory Note shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of Texas.
The terms of this Promissory Note are subject to amendment only in the manner provided in the Credit Agreement. The
Borrower promises to pay all reasonable and invoiced out-of-pocket fees, charges and expenses, all as provided in the Credit
Agreement, of counsel retained
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by the Lender in connection with the collection and enforcement of this Promissory Note (whether through negotiations, legal
proceedings or otherwise). The Borrower and any endorsers of this Promissory Note hereby consent to renewals and extensions of
time at or after the maturity hereof, without notice, and hereby waive diligence, presentment, protest, demand, notice of every kind and,
to the full extent permitted by law, the right to plead any statute of limitations as a defense to any demand hereunder.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Promissory Note to be duly executed and delivered by its
officer thereunto duly authorized as of the date first above written.
SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
By:

Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP,
its general partner
By:

Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC,
its general partner

By: _______________________________
Name:
Title:
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REVOLVING ADVANCES AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

Date

Amount of
Revolving
Advance

Amount of Principal Paid
or Prepaid

Unpaid Principal Balance

Notation Made By

EXHIBIT B –- FORM OF
ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE
ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE
This Assignment and Acceptance (the “ Assignment and Acceptance”) is dated as of the Effective Date set forth below
and is entered into by and between [NAME OF ASSIGNOR] (the “Assignor”) and [NAME OF ASSIGNEE] (the “Assignee”).
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement identified below (as
amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), receipt of a
copy of which is hereby acknowledged by the Assignee. The Standard Terms and Conditions set forth in Annex 1 attached hereto are
hereby agreed to and incorporated herein by reference and made a part of this Assignment and Acceptance as if set forth herein in full.
For an agreed consideration, the Assignor hereby irrevocably sells and assigns to the Assignee, and the Assignee
hereby irrevocably purchases and assumes from the Assignor, subject
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to and in accordance with the Standard Terms and Conditions and the Credit Agreement, as of the Effective Date inserted by the
Agent as contemplated below (i) all of the Assignor’s rights and obligations in its capacity as a Lender under the Credit Agreement and
any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto to the extent related to the amount and percentage interest identified
below of all of such outstanding rights and obligations of the Assignor under the respective facilities identified below (including any
letters of credit included in such facilities) and (ii) to the extent permitted to be assigned under applicable law, all claims, suits, causes
of action and any other right of the Assignor (in its capacity as a Lender) against any Person, whether known or unknown, arising
under or in connection with the Credit Agreement, any other documents or instruments delivered pursuant thereto or the loan
transactions governed thereby or in any way based on or related to any of the foregoing, including contract claims, tort claims,
malpractice claims, statutory claims and all other claims at law or in equity related to the rights and obligations sold and assigned
pursuant to clause (i) above (the rights and obligations sold and assigned pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) above being referred to herein
collectively as the “Assigned Interest”). Such sale and assignment is without recourse to the Assignor and, except as expressly
provided in this Assignment and Acceptance, without representation or warranty by the Assignor.
1. Assignor:
2. Assignee:
[and is a Lender/an Affiliate of [identify Lender]/an Approved

Fund]

3. Borrower: Spectra Energy Partners, LP
4. Credit Agreement:

Credit Agreement dated as of September ●, 2018, among Spectra Energy Partners, LP, a Delaware limited
partnership and Enbridge (U.S.) Inc. as Lender party thereto

5. Assigned Interest:

Facility Assigned

Revolving Facility

Aggregate Amount of
Commitment/Advances for all
Lenders in the Applicable Class

Amount of
Commitment/Advances
Assigned in the Applicable
Class

Percentage Assigned of
Commitment/Advances in the
Applicable Class

$

$

%

[Series [__] Incremental Term $
Facility]

$

%
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6.

Assignee’s Domestic
Lending Office:

7.

Assignee’s Eurodollar
Lending Office:

8.

_______________________

_______________________

Assignee’s Letter of
Credit Commitment: _______________________

Effective Date: _____________ ___, 20___

ASSIGNOR
[NAME OF ASSIGNOR],
by

Name:
Title:

ASSIGNEE
[NAME OF ASSIGNEE],
by

Name:

Title:
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[Consented to:]
SPECTRA ENERGY PARTNERS, LP
b y : Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, its general
partner

b y : Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC, its general
partner

Name:
Title:
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Standard Terms And Conditions For
Assignment And Assumption

1.

Representations and Warranties.

1.1. Assignor. The Assignor (a) represents and warrants that (i) it is the legal and beneficial owner of the Assigned Interest,
(ii) the Assigned Interest is free and clear of any lien, encumbrance or other adverse claim and (iii) it has full power and authority, and
has taken all action necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Acceptance and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby; and (b) assumes no responsibility with respect to (i) any statements, warranties or representations made in or in
connection with the Credit Agreement, (ii) the execution, legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency or value of the
Credit Agreement or any collateral thereunder, (iii) the financial condition of the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any
other Person obligated in respect of the Credit Agreement or (iv) the performance or observance by the Borrower, any of its
Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any other Person of any of their respective obligations under the Credit Agreement.
1 . 2 . Assignee. The Assignee (a) represents and warrants that (i) it has full power and authority, and has taken all action
necessary, to execute and deliver this Assignment and Acceptance and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to
become a Lender under the Credit Agreement, (ii) it satisfies the requirements, if any, specified in the Credit Agreement that are
required to be satisfied by it in order to acquire the Assigned Interest and become a Lender, (iii) from and after the Effective Date, it
shall be bound by the provisions of the Credit Agreement as a Lender thereunder and, to the extent of the Assigned Interest, shall have
the obligations of a Lender thereunder, (iv) it has received and/or had the opportunity to review a copy of the Credit Agreement to the
extent it has in its sole discretion deemed necessary, together with copies of the most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to
Section 5.01(a) and 5.01(b) thereof, as applicable, and such other documents and information as it has in its sole discretion deemed
appropriate to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment and Acceptance and to purchase the Assigned
Interest on the basis of which it has made such analysis and decision independently and without reliance on the Agent or any other
Lender, and (v) if it is a Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States of America or any State
thereof or the District of Columbia, attached to the Assignment and Acceptance is any documentation required to be delivered by it
pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, duly completed and executed by the Assignee; and (b) agrees that (i) it will,
independently and without reliance on the Agent, the Assignor or any other Lender, and based on such documents and information as
it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or not taking action under the Credit
Agreement, and (ii) it will perform in accordance with their terms all of the obligations that by the terms of the Credit Agreement are
required to be performed by it as a Lender.
2 . Payments. From and after the Effective Date, the Agent shall make all payments in respect of the Assigned Interest
(including payments of principal, interest, fees and other amounts) to the Assignor for amounts that have accrued to but excluding the
Effective Date and to the Assignee for amounts that have accrued from and after the Effective Date.

3. General Provisions. This Assignment and Acceptance shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto
and their respective successors and assigns. This Assignment and Acceptance may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of
which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Assignment and Acceptance by telecopy or other electronic means shall
be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Assignment and Acceptance. This Assignment and Acceptance shall
be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the law of Texas.

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, William T. Yardley, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Spectra Energy Partners, LP;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 1, 2018

/s/ William T. Yardley
William T. Yardley
President and Chairman of the Board
Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Stephen J. Neyland, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Spectra Energy Partners, LP;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 1, 2018

/s/ Stephen J. Neyland
Stephen J. Neyland
Vice President—Finance
Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Spectra Energy Partners, LP on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William T. Yardley, President and Chairman of the Board of Spectra Energy
Partners GP, LLC, general partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, general partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Spectra Energy
Partners, LP.
Date: November 1, 2018

/s/ William T. Yardley
William T. Yardley
President and Chairman of the Board
Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Spectra Energy Partners, LP on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stephen J. Neyland, Vice President —Finance of Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC,
general partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP, general partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Spectra Energy
Partners, LP.
Date: November 1, 2018

/s/ Stephen J. Neyland
Stephen J. Neyland
Vice President—Finance
Spectra Energy Partners GP, LLC
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners (DE) GP, LP
General Partner of Spectra Energy Partners, LP

